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Endúr ASA (OSE: ENDUR) is a leading supplier of construction and maintenance projects, 
services, and solutions for marine infrastructure, including facilities for land-based 
aquaculture, quays, harbours, dams, bridges and other specialised concrete and steel 
projects. The company and its subsidiaries also o!er a wide range of other specialised 
project and marine services. Endúr ASA is headquartered in Bergen, Norway. 

A TRANSFORMATIONAL YEAR
In recent years the majority of Endúr’s operations has been related to the maritime and o!shore energy segments. The 

companies in these segments have struggled, however, to deliver consistent positive "nancial results, and the market 

outlook for both segments has been uncertain. In February 2020 this led to the decision to wind down the o!shore 

maintenance and modi"cation business Endúr Energy Solutions AS. On the other hand, Endúr’s entry into the aquaculture 

industry has seen a positive development since identi"ed as a target market in 2018. 

Against this backdrop Endúr in June 2020 announced a signi"cant change in strategic direction, targeting the marine 

infrastructure market as a key growth area for the group. Endúr’s target segments within marine infrastructure include 

facilities for land-based aquaculture, quays, harbours, dams, bridges and other specialised concrete and steel projects.

With the change in strategic direction, Endúr announced an ambition to build a NOK 2#2.5 billion revenue company 

within the next two years, delivering 10#12% EBITDA-margin. The key driver for a$aining these objectives is an accretive 

acquisition and consolidation strategy. 

A key element under the new strategy was to build a unique service provider within marine infrastructure and aquaculture 

solutions. Endúr means to establish a full-service o!ering within marine infrastructure, enabling the company to take on 

large multi-disciplinary projects. Endúr today particularly targets large projects within land-based aquaculture, marine 

infrastructure, and related areas. 

The principal rationale underlying Endúr’s strategic realignment is that both marine infrastructure and land-based 

aquaculture comprise substantial and a$ractive growth segments, largely being serviced by a fragmented supply 

industry. Through acting as a consolidator in the marine infrastructure market, Endúr can create a one-stop shop that can 

both tap into the market’s growth and pro"tability opportunities, while also establishing a larger service provider with 

a broad service o!ering, one which the company expects will be appreciated by customers within what is currently a 

highly fragmented marine infrastructure supplier market.

The "rst milestone under the new strategy was the merger between Endúr ASA and Oceano AS, comprised of the 

subsidiary companies ØPD AS and Installit AS, announced in June and completed on 16 October 2020.

The second and most signi"cant milestone was the acquisition of BMO Entreprenør AS, completed on 17 December 

2020. BMO Entreprenør is a market leader within maintenance and rehabilitation of critical marine infrastructure such 

as quays, harbours, dams, bridges and other specialized concrete and steel projects, servicing both public and private 

customers in the Norwegian market.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR ENDÚR ASA 2020
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Over the second half of 2020 Endúr also strengthened the group’s balance sheet. This in part to provide capital required 

for further consolidation, as well as to ensure su%cient working capital for the group’s project-oriented operations. Endúr 

successfully completed two private placements for gross proceeds of NOK 100 million (June 2020) and NOK 125 million 

(November 2020) respectively. One speci"c purpose of the la$er was to "nance the cash consideration for the BMO 

Entreprenør acquisition. 

It follows that Endúr ended 2020 a wholly di!erent company than when the year commenced, with a strengthened 

balance sheet, the majority of the group’s activities operating in industry segments with a strong and positive market 

outlook, and hence, in the board’s opinion, a strong pla&orm to build upon.

Shortly into the new year Endúr has acted on this pla&orm, furthering and reinforcing its marine infrastructure growth 

strategy through the acquisitions of Artec Aqua AS, a renowned, leading turnkey supplier of land-based aquaculture 

facilities, and Marcon-Gruppen i Sverige AB, a premiere Swedish multi-service marine infrastructure provider. 

Endúr ASA’s commitment to pro"table growth, with its 10#12% EBITDA-margin ambition a key objective, was further 

demonstrated by decisions to wind down loss-making entities Endúr Industrier AS and ØPD AS in January and February 

2021, respectively. Both companies’ performances had been marred by consistent poor "nancial performance over time, 

subjected to additional pressure by low order intake resulting partly from Covid-19, and, ultimately, material liquidity 

de"cits.

In recent years, Endúr has spent considerable time and resources on restructuring and seeking to turn around under-

performing businesses. However unfortunate having to discontinue the activities in Endúr Industrier and ØPD, Endúr’s 

board of directors is determined that this long-term state of restructuring must shortly be a thing of the past. With the 

many and all-encompassing structural changes undertaken since mid-2020 and into 2021, it is the board’s opinion that 

Endúr per April 2021 is well positioned to both realise and capitalize on a strategy focused on growth and pro"tability. 

REPORTING SEGMENTS
The Endúr group’s operating activities have for most of 2020 been undertaken and reported through the following 

segments:

• Aquaculture

• Maritime

• Energy, and 

• Other

For Q4, following the formal completion of the merger with Oceano AS (October 2020) and the acquisition of BMO 

Entreprenør AS (December 2020). Endúr introduced the “Marine infrastructure” reporting segment.

AQUACULTURE

In 2020 the operating activities in the Aquaculture segment were undertaken through Endúr Sjøsterk AS. Endúr 

Sjøsterk manufactures 'oating concrete structures largely by way of feed barges for the aquaculture industry. The 

company’s production facility is located in the Stamsneset industrial area in Bergen. Here the concrete constructions 

are manufactured in the company’s own dry dock of 22 x 90 meters, with a capacity for parallel production of up to 3 

concrete 'eet projects with 600 tonnes load capacity. 
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A(er a year of record high activity in 2019, when the company completed a total of six large feed barges for the 

aquaculture industry, the company saw its activity level signi"cantly reduced in 2020. Aquaculture revenues ended at 

NOK 65.2 million in 2020, with an EBITDA-result of NOK -0.4 million.

Endúr Sjøsterk won three new feed barge contracts in 2020, for a total value of NOK 80 million. At year-end, the order 

backlog for the aquaculture segment stood at NOK 72.4 million.

The acquisition of Artec Aqua AS in March 2021 will signi"cantly increase Endúr’s presence and activity within 

aquaculture services and solutions. Artec Aqua AS is leading turnkey supplier of land-based aquaculture facilities, 

including specialised services and patented technologies and solutions for water quality, key to reliable and 

environmentally sustainable land-based aquaculture facilities. Artec Aqua’s had an order backlog of more than NOK 1.5 

billion per year-end 2020.

MARITIME

The Maritime reporting segment consists of the activities of Endúr Martime AS. Endúr Maritime AS has extensive 

experience within the ship technical maintenance connected to complex vessels with strict quality and operational 

safety requirements. The company has built up solid competence and capacity for handling extensive maintenance 

agreements towards both military and civilian maritime customers. Operational activities are based on a combination of 

long-term framework agreements as well as a position within the spot market.

In September 2019, the Norwegian Armed Forces Logistics Organization (FLO) awarded Endúr Maritime AS a four-year 

framework contract, with an option for a further three years, by for supplementary maintenance assignments at the Royal 

Norwegian Navy’s naval base Haakonsvern in Bergen. The calculated value of the contract, including the option period, 

is estimated by FLO at NOK 750 million. The contract comprises maintenance services and alteration work for all vessel 

classes received at Haakonsvern. 

In February 2020, the Royal Norwegian Navy awarded Endúr Maritime as a four-year framework agreement for 

maintenance services on the Royal Yacht of the King of Norway, «Norge». Norwegian Royal Yacht. The contract has an 

estimated value of NOK 50 million.

Following a year in 2019 when Martime achieved positive earnings, and even with close to 15% higher revenues in 2020, 

Maritime earned an EBITDA result of NOK 2.0 million in 2020 on revenues of NOK 198.8 million. The adverse earnings 

development was partly a$ributable to insu%cient internal process and control systems to e%ciently manage the FLO 

contract, a de"ciency which Maritime through implementation of a materially improved and integrated ERP system in Q1 

2021 means to remedy.

Maritime had an order backlog of NOK 349 million at year-end 2020.

ENERGY

The operational activity in the Energy segment in 2020 was undertaken by Endúr AAK AS, Endúr Energy Solutions AS and 

Endúr Industrier AS.

Endúr AAK is a pioneer in access technologies and has a long-standing position in the market. The company’s deliveries 

include mechanical installation and li(ing, inspection / NDT, demolition and removal, repair and maintenance services 

to the o!shore, industrial, infrastructure and renewable markets. AAK has a strong professional culture and a dispersed 

geographical presence in Norway, a!ording valuable proximity to customers.
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As already discussed, Endúr Energy Solutions AS and Endúr Industrier AS, "led for bankruptcy in February 2020 and 

January 2021, respectively.

The Energy segment reported revenues of NOK 79.7 million and an EBITDA result of NOK -7.4 million in 2020. Endúr AAK’s 

order backlog stood at NOK 82 million at year-end 2020.

MARINE INFRASTRUCTURE

With the incorporation of Oceano AS (October 2020), comprised of the operating subsidiaries Installit AS and ØPD AS, 

and the acquisition of BMO Entreprenør AS (December 2020), Endúr commenced reporting on a new segment «Marine 

infrastructure” with the Q4 2020 "nancial report.

Installit AS is a consultancy and engineering company providing project management and engineering services within 

subsea cable installation and marine operations for the marine, aquaculture and renewables industries. Installit and ØPD 

AS’s "nancial accounts were incorporated into Endúr from 31 October 2020. As commented above, the operations in 

ØPD were discontinued with the company "ling for bankruptcy on 5 February 2021.

BMO Entreprenør AS is a market leader within maintenance and rehabilitation services for critical marine infrastructure 

such as quays, harbours, dams, bridges and other specialized concrete and steel projects to public and private 

customers in the Norwegian market. Through combining BMO Entreprenør’s competences and market position with 

Endúr’s other competences and o!erings, the group can take on larger and multi-discipline marine construction projects, 

including within growth segments such as land-based aquaculture and public marine infrastructure, including harbours 

and quays along the Norwegian coastline. BMO Entreprenør’s "nancials were consolidated into Endúr from 31 December 

2020.

The marine infrastructure segment achieved revenues of NOK 50.9 million in 2020, with an EBITDA-result of NOK -5.3 

million. The marine infrastructure segment’s order backlog stood at NOK 350 million at year-end, following consolidation 

of BMO Entreprenør’s order backlog from 31 December 2020. BMO Entreprenør’s strong and reputable position in the 

Norwegian marine infrastructure market was further evidenced by the company being awarded four new contracts for 

maintenance of bridges, a ferry quay and roads worth approximately NOK 100 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 alone.

The board of directors believes Endúr today, with the recently acquired expertise and market statures of BMO 

Entreprenør and Marcon, is most favourably positioned to capitalise on the expected increase in public sector investment 

to close the existing maintenance gap particularly at Norwegian ports and harbours. 

OTHER

In 2020 the Other segment comprised Endúr Invest AS and Endúr ASA, the Endúr group’s holding company. 

Total revenues in the Other segment in 2020 were NOK 17.1 million, earning an EBITDA result of NOK -12.8 million. 

REPORTING SEGMENTS IN 2021

Re'ecting Endúr’s stated strategic redirection from mid-2020 as well as the many and comprehensive alterations to 

the group’s composition as discussed above, commencing with the Q1 2021 "nancial report Endúr will report on the 

following operating segments, with their respective operating companies:

• Marine Infrastructure

 -  BMO Entreprenør AS

 - Marcon-Gruppen i Sverige AB

 - Installit AS

• Aquaculture Solutions

 - Artec Aqua AS

 - Endúr Sjøsterk AS
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• Other

 - Endúr Maritime AS

 - Endúr AAK AS

PROFIT & LOSS, BALANCE AND CASH FLOW
This annual report has been developed according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 

established by EU.

RESULT: 

The Group’s revenue (continued operations) was NOK 405.0 million in 2020, compared to NOK 334.5 million in 2019. 

The Group’s operating pro"t before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) in 2020 was NOK -24.1 million, compared to 

NOK 18.3 million in 2019. The Group’s operating result was NOK -516.9 million in 2020, compared to NOK 10.1 million the 

prior year. The operating result was negatively a!ected by a goodwill impairment of NOK 461.3 million1 , primarily related 

to the bankruptcy "ling in ØPD AS. The Group’s result a(er tax was NOK -525.9 million, compared to NOK 3.9 million in 

2019. 

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW:

As of 31 December 2020, total assets were NOK 989.8 million and book equity was NOK 319.6 million, equivalent to an 

equity ratio of 32%. Similarly, as of 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets of NOK 333.4 million, total equity of 

NOK 111.5 million and an equity ratio of 33%.

Net interest-bearing debt by the end of 2020 was NOK 204.5 million. Cash and cash equivalents constituted NOK 167.8 

million. 

Cash 'ow from operations was NOK -36.1 million in 2020, versus NOK -32.8 million in 2019. 

Net cash 'ow from investments was NOK -218.9 million in 2020, largely driven by the acquisition of BMO Entreprenør 

AS. 

Cash 'ow from "nancing activities was NOK 401.9 million in 2020, impacted by a combination of new issuance of 

shares and proceeds from new debt. 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT:

Endúr has no overarching research and development activity but works with targeted projects within product and service 

development, which may strengthen the market positions of the companies.

PARENT COMPANY – ENDÚR ASA:

The operating result for the parent company was NOK -13.8 million in 2020, while the corresponding "gure for 2019 

was NOK -10.8 million. Net "nancial costs were NOK -450.8 million in 2020, versus NOK -3.6 million in 2019. The annual 

result was NOK -461.4 million in 2020, compared to NOK -10.0 million in 2019.

ALLOCATION OF PROFIT/LOSS AND DIVIDEND POLICY:

The pro"t/loss for the parent company was NOK -461.4 million, which is allocated to share premium. At 31 December 

2020, the parent company’s equity was NOK 386.4 million.

It is the company’s stated ambition to provide shareholders with annual returns on their investments in the form of 

dividends and value increases that are at least on a par with investment alternatives with comparable risk. Based on the 

Group’s 2020 results, the Board does not propose any dividends.

1  Note that NOK 198.7 million of the goodwill impairment derives from an increase in consideration due to increase in share price 
from announcement date to closing date of the merger with Oceano AS, and was mirrored by a corresponding increase in book 
equity, hence the net change to Endúr ASA’s equity from this part of the goodwill impairment was zero.
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QHSE – QUALITY, HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
Endúr works systematically and continually on improving the Group’s systems for quality, health, safety and the 
environment (QHSE) and the safety culture connected to the Group’s operations. The Group has a zero vision for 
incidents connected to HSE, quality deviations and incidents impacting the external environment. The goal is to avoid 
employees becoming injured or ill at work, as well as ensure the correct quality of deliveries and avoid negative impact 
on the environment around us. The company works purposefully on increasing the use of suggestions for improvements 
and observations in preventive work. This type of reporting is a key part of the work of maintaining the Group’s zero 
vision.

Quality: The Group systematically develops process-based quality systems within each speci"c business area. An 
important part of this work is a dedicated focus on the management systems and to ensure that these are quality 
assured through ISO certi"cations. BMO Entreprenør is certi"ed according to both ISO 14001 and ISO 9001:2015. 
Installit AS, Endúr Sjøsterk AS, Endúr Maritime AS, Endúr AAK AS and are also certi"ed according to ISO 9001:2015. 
ISO 9001:2015 con"rms that the management system is certi"ed according to the standard that describes quality 
management systems.

In addition, periodic revision of the welding standard ISO 3834#2 has been carried out for Endúr Maritime. ISO 3834-
2 de"nes comprehensive quality requirements for metal welding in both workshops and construction sites. This 
certi"cation is important for documenting Endúr Maritime’s extensive technical welding expertise.

All the operative companies in Endúr ASA have a targeted strategy for further developing the companies’ quality 
assurance systems.

Health: The average sick leave among Endúr employees in 2020 was 6.6%. For comparison, the average sick leave in 
2019 was 4.2%.

The sick leave in 2020 was distributed on 2.6% on short term leave and 4.0 on long term leave. 0.5% of the long-term 
absences were considered work-related. Endúr aims to reduce sick leave to a level corresponding to or be$er than the 
national average. The sick leave within the industry sector in Norway in 2020 was 4.7% (source: SSB).

During 2020, the Group had a total of 4 personal injuries among its own employees, related to a "nger injury in lathe, rib 
fracture from leaning over generator, ancle twist at ship maintenance and an eye injury from metal hammer debris. The 
company has implemented measures to prevent similar incidents.

Based on the number of reported injuries, the annual H-value was measured to 7.9. The H-value measures the number 
of injuries leading to sick leave per million work hours. For comparison, the H-value for 2019 was 17.2. The company 
works systematically to avoid lost-time injuries. A zero vision with associated action plan for injury prevention has been 
established.

Environment: Endúr maintains a continuous focus on environmental improvement when it comes to production 
processes and the use of alternative products and services in order to reduce the Group’s negative impact on the 
environment. In general, the Group’s activities have a limited negative impact on the environment. There were no serious 
incidents that had consequences for the environment registered in 2020. The company strives for minimal use of 
solvents, energy, and water. Collaborative agreements have been established with approved companies that ensure that 
hazardous waste is handled safely and according to regulations. The company focuses on using fewer environmentally 
damaging products by increasing the awareness of the total environmental impact of a product throughout its lifespan. 

In this context, the Group has established systems for risk assessment, measures and control of the use of chemicals in 
order to ensure systematic and preventive environmental work.

Safety: In 2020, the Group has focused on further developing its systems, competence and learning in order to achieve 
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lower risks for all our activities. Operational activities use electronic tools for all guiding documentation connected 
to the above certi"cations in connection with reporting and following up incidents and deviations. The company has 
established an electronic system for risk assessment and maintenance management. An annual plan for the HSE work 
has been developed and is followed in order to safeguard continuous improvement and reach the company’s goals.

ORGANISATION
Following the general meeting’s approval of the merger plan between Endúr and Oceano, changes were made to Endúr’s 
management team. Ivar-Andreas Monefeldt, previously CEO of Oceano, took on a new position as senior vice president 
of business development. At the same time, COO Nils Ho! succeeded Morten Riiser as CFO, with Riiser taking on the 
role as head of group accounting. 

Nils Ho!’s successor as COO was appointed at the end of October, when Stig Arne Høiland joined as new COO.
From 1 October 2020, Mons-Ove Hauge took on the role as new managing director of Endúr Sjøsterk AS, succeeding 
Øyvind Risnes.

E!ective 6 January 2021, Hans Olav Storkås was appointed CEO and Lasse B. Kjelsås appointed CFO of Endúr ASA and 
the group. They succeeded CEO Hans Pe$er Eikeland and CFO Nils Ho!. 

PERSONNEL, EQUALITY, AND COMPETENCE DEVELOPMENT
Per 31 December 2020, the Group had 478 employees, most of whom had full-time positions. Endúr considers it 
strategically necessary to carry out continuous competence and capacity adjustments according to the market 
development and operational activities. During 2020, there has been a net increase of 229 FTEs within the Group, 
primarily related to the merger with Oceano AS and the acquisition of BMO Entreprenør AS.

Parts of the company’s activities are project-related assignments requiring the use of extra capacity for a limited period. 
Mainly, the company uses temporary employment to cover project-related capacity. 

The work environment is generally considered good. Endúr has established a zero tolerance towards all types of 
harassment, discrimination, or other behaviour that colleagues, business partners or others may perceive to be 
threatening or derogatory. Regular meetings in AMU (The Working Environment Commi$ee) and with the club 
management/employee representatives are considered important in order to identify any negative deviations connected 
to the work environment.

Endúr relies on talented, experienced, and quali"ed managers and co-workers. All employees are treated equally, 
regardless of ethnicity, nationality, sexual orientation, gender, religion, or age. Equal opportunities are o!ered for 
development and promotion to management positions.

Endúr’s operational activities are mainly within areas traditionally characterised by a large share of male employees. By 
the end of 2020, the percentage of female employees was 7.1% (against 13.1% by the end of 2019). This development 
is quantitatively caused by BMO Entreprenør’s and its 6.3% female employee percentage, entry into the Endúr group. 
The Group maintains a dedicated focus on recruiting more female employees at all levels. The salary for women is 
considered the same as for men in similar positions.

At the end of 2020, the Board of Endúr ASA consisted of seven members: four men and three women. 

SUSTAINABILITY IN ENDÚR: ESG AND CORPORATE COMPLIANCE 

ESG
Endúr recognizes the importance of securing a sustainable future for the present and future generations. Sustainability 
in Endúr means creating value through responsible business decisions that protect the environment and contribute to 
the good of society. With a focus on environmental, social and governance (ESG) activities, Endúr is commi$ed to work 
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to mitigate and transition to the climate change challenge. We aim to provide marine infrastructure and aquaculture 
solutions that enable a sustainable use of marine resources, contribute to the development of sustainable technologies 
and solutions and secure responsibility in our supply chains.

Following our new strategy to build a unique service provider within marine infrastructure and aquaculture solutions 
we will work out a sustainability strategy which shall be based on the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), the 
requirements in the EU Taxonomy and other relevant standards. The strategy shall create a basis for how to improve our 
sustainability impact and creating value in a sustainable manner.   

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE
Corporate compliance is a key factor to enable sustainability in our business and is considered a “license to operate” by 
Endúr. We are commi$ed to ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, including human rights, as well as 
best practices, to enable a sustainable business in all our operations, including our supply chain.

The industries in which our business segments operate involve inherent compliance risks such as bribery, fraud, and 
misconduct in the supply chain of subcontractors. Given Endúr’s change in strategic direction and the group’s rapid 
growth in 2020/2021, Endúr has initiated a corporate compliance project with the purpose to conduct a compliance 
review of our businesses in Norway and Sweden.  The purpose of the review is to ensure that adequate policies and 
procedures are in place to address the risks related to Endúr’s business activities, and further to safeguard that all 
employees, suppliers and other business partners adhere to Endúr’s ethical requirements. 

As an initial part of the compliance review, a thorough risk analysis of the underlying business units of Endúr will 
be conducted, including a review of existing policies and procedures. Based on the risk analysis a plan for further 
strengthening Endúr’ corporate compliance program will be designed, taking into consideration the speci"c risks 
pertaining to our businesses and the group companies’ existing policies and procedures. Following such compliance 
review, an action plan to implement adequate mitigating measures will be outlined. The implementation process will 
seek to operationalize the policies and procedures and to continuing to create awareness among the employees through 
training, systematic communication, and compliance program testing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Endúr ASA is of the opinion that the foundation for good Corporate Governance should be built on clear and transparent 
relationships between the owners, the Board, and the management. 

Corporate Governance shall ensure credibility and trust among all stakeholders and form a good foundation for furthering 
sustainable value creation and good results. Good business management is an important prerequisite for achieving Endúr 
ASA’s vision and carrying out our strategy plans. Good business management contributes to the Group’s long-term value 
creation, while the resources are utilised in an e%cient and sustainable manner.

Endúr ASA’s guidelines for corporate governance follow the recommendation of The Norwegian Commi$ee for 
Corporate Governance (NUES), available at ).nues.no. The Norwegian recommenddation for Corporate Governance 
is based on the shares, accounting, stock exchange and securities legislation, as well as stock exchange regulations, and 
contains rules and guidelines which partially elaborates the current legislation, and partially covers areas not addressed 
by the legislation.

The guidelines aim to clarify the distribution of roles between shareholders, the Board and case-workers beyond the 
requirements of the law. Endúr’s goal is to follow the NUES recommendation of strengthening the trust in the company 
and contribute to the greatest possible value creation in the long term, to the best of the shareholders, employees, and 
other stakeholders.

Endúr’s principles for Corporate Governance are available on the company’s website.
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SHARE CAPITAL, SHARES AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Endúr ASA has been listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange since June 2008. The company’s shares are freely transferable. 
No transferability restrictions are incorporated into the Articles of Association. 

As of 31 December 2020, there were 732,667,536 shares issued, all of the same class and with equal voting rights. Each 
share has a nominal value of NOK 0.01. At year-end Endúr ASA had a total of 4,350 shareholders, compared to 1,559 
shareholders by the end of 2019. An updated overview over the company’s 20 largest shareholders is available on the 
company’s IR pages at ).endur.no. 

Share trades and share price: The company’s share price was NOK 1.22 at year-end 2020 ("nal trading day, 30 
December 2020) compared to NOK 1.16 at year-end 2019. Hence, the market value of the company’s shares was 894 
million at 31 December 2020, compared to NOK 248 million one year previous. 

In 2020, the company’s shares were traded publicly 61,562 times on the Oslo Stock Exchange, an increase from 4,300 
trades in 2019. Accumulated trade volume in 2019 was 524.4 million shares, compared to 22.86 million shares in 2019.

RISK EXPOSURE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Endúr ASA is exposed to risks of both operational and "nancial character. The Board of Endúr ASA is conscious of the 
importance of risk management and work actively to reduce the total risk exposure of the Group. The most important risk 
factors are "nancial risks, market risks and project risks, hereunder counterparty risks.

The "nancial risk has historically largely been managed on an independent basis by the respective companies, with the 
level of "nancial risk varying between the group’s segments and companies. With the issuance in March 2021 of the NOK 
1100 million senior secured bond by the group holding company Endúr ASA, the group’s "nancial risk will to a greater 
extent be monitored and managed at the group level.

Prior to the second half of 2020 the group’s "nancial risk related mainly to liquidity and being able to manage periodic 
'uctuations in working capital requirements. Endúr strengthened its liquidity during 2020 through issuance of new 
shares. With the March 2021 NOK 1100 million bond issue, involving an increase in the company’s debt ratio and a 
corresponding obligation to pay interest and otherwise service the bond loan, the higher leverage involves a "nancial 
risk. Also, as the coupon on the bond is comprised of both a "xed margin and a 'oating base interest rate, this exposes 
the company to interest rate risk. As interest rate 'uctuations are beyond Endúr’s control and in'uence, the company will 
continuously consider whether to lessen its exposure to interest rate risk though hedging transactions.

Project risk constitutes a persistent risk factor in and of itself and may be exacerbated by any resulting adverse liquidity 
consequences. From a por&olio perspective, to the extent that the group’s turnover is largely distributed across a 
number of di!erent projects and customers, both in the public and private sector, this lowers the group’s overall project 
risk exposure. However, as the February 2021 bankruptcy in group subsidiary ØPD AS clearly demonstrated, having a 
diversi"ed project por&olio does not inoculate the group from being materially adversely a!ected by underperforming 
projects.

Market risks are mainly connected to strong 'uctuations within market areas in which the Group operates. Currently 
the Group has diversi"ed operational activities undertaken within di!erent market areas and industry segments that are 
partially independent of each other. The market risks are therefore considered to be limited, however with certain risks 
connected to the renewal of larger framework contracts. 

Reference is also made to the section “Going concern”. 

COVID-19



Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 202012

12 Endúr ASA årsrapport 2018ENDÚR ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The Group’s performance is a!ected by the global economic conditions in the market in which it operates. The global 
economy has been experiencing a period of uncertainty since the outbreak of the coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (“Covid-19”), 
which was recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020. The global outbreak of Covid-19, 
and the extraordinary health measures and restrictions on local and global basis imposed by authorities across the world 
has, and are expected to continue to cause, disruptions in the Group’s value chain. The Covid-19 situation may adversely 
a!ect the Group’s risk pro"le, such as risks relating to access to spare parts, e.g., for motor maintenance, defence 
contracts, and planned maintenance o!shore. Also, in the aquaculture segment new orders of "sh feed barges are 
delayed due to the uncertainties in the market.

Moreover, as a result of the Covid-19 situation, national authorities have adopted several laws and regulations with 
immediate e!ect, and which provide legal basis for the government to implement measures in order to limit contagion 
and the consequences of Covid-19. The Group has adapted the National Health Authorities’ guidelines with regards 
to reduced contact for o%ce personnel, implementation of shi( arrangements within certain segments, and a general 
reduction of number of personnel in project execution. 

Prospective investors should note that the Covid-19 situation is continuously changing, and new laws and regulations 
that could directly, or indirectly, a!ect the Group’s operations may enter into force. The e!ects of the Covid-19 situation 
could negatively a!ect the Group’s revenue and operations going forward, where the severity of the Covid-19 situation 
and the exact impacts for the Group are highly uncertain, the main risk being an operational impact if the outbreak 
intensi"es and restrictions are resumed.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE: 

MANAGEMENT CHANGES
• On 6 January 2021, Hans Olav Storkås was appointed CEO and Lasse B. Kjelsås appointed CFO of Endúr ASA and the  
 group. 

• On 1 February 2021, Christine Skogholt Amland was appointed managing director of Endúr’s subsidiary Installit AS.

ACQUISITIONS
• On 11 January 2021, Endúr entered into an agreement with Artec Holding AS to acquire Artec Aqua, a leading turnkey  
 supplier of land-based aquaculture facilities and solutions renowned for its superior water treatment solutions   
 design. Artec Aqua is a market leader with a long history of pro"table growth and a NOK 1.55 billion order backlog  
 at  year-end 2020, with leading companies in the aquaculture industry. The transaction further strengthens Endúr’s  
 position in the rapidly growing market for onshore aquaculture. The transaction was completed on 12 March 2021.

• On 2 February 2021, Endúr announced having entered into an agreement to acquire Swedish marine infrastructure  
 group Marcon, a multi-service marine infrastructure provider with strong position in the Swedish market. Through the  
 acquisition, completed on 12 March 2021, Endúr has taken a signi"cant step towards realising its ambition of   
 becoming the leading player within the Nordic marine infrastructure market. Marcon has achieved consistent revenue  
 growth and strong average EBITDA margins at approximately 20% over the last six years. For the calendar year 2020  
 Marcon earned revenues of SEK 441 million and an EBITDA-result of SEK 105.9 million, equivalent to an EBITDA-  
 margin of 24 percent.

BANKRUPTCIES
• On 15 January 2021, the board of directors of Endúr Industrier AS noti"ed Stavanger district court of its decision to  
 "le for bankruptcy. The combination of poor "nancial performance over time, a low order backlog, continued 
 unfavourable market outlook and insu%cient cash reserves, led the board of directors of Endúr Industrier AS 
 to conclude that the conditions for sound operations and going concern were no longer present. Further, as Endúr  
 Industrier provided fabrication services to the o!shore oil and gas industry, the company was considered non-core  
 for Endúr ASA following its strategic redirection. As the equity of Endúr Industrier AS was negative, the liquidation of  
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 the company will only have a minor accounting e!ect for Endúr ASA. 
• On 5 February 2021, the board of directors of Endúr’s wholly owned subsidiary ØPD AS (ØPD) noti"ed Nedre   
 Telemark district court about its decision to "le for bankruptcy for the company. Consistent poor  "nancial 
 performance, low order intake partly resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic and insu%cient cash reserves   
 were the main reasons behind the decision to wind up the company.

In 2020, Endúr contributed approximately NOK 55 million in new capital to ØPD, which delivered a negative EBITDA-
result of approximately NOK 47 million in 2020. Continuing operations would require substantial additional liquidity 
contributions from Endúr. On 18 January, Endúr announced its decision to undertake a write-down of NOK 20 million 
following a new assessment of ØPD’s project por&olio. The cash outlay for Endúr resulting from the ØPD bankruptcy 
is expected to be in the range of NOK 15#25 million, deriving from guarantees issued by Endúr in favour of ØPD’s 
customers and contract counterparties. Relative to the original acquisition value, the bankruptcy requires a goodwill 
impairment of approximately NOK 419.0 million, which was charged to Endúr’s Q4 2020 accounts, together with a 
negative pro"t contribution of approximately NOK 10 million from ØPD’s operations in November and December 2020. 

FINANCING
• On 15 February 2021, Endúr ASA successfully completed a NOK 1,100 million senior secured 'oating rate non-  
 amortizing bond issue with maturity in 2025. The purpose of the bond issue was threefold: to fully "nance the cash  
 consideration related to the acquisitions of Artec Aqua AS and Marcon-Gruppen i Sverige AB, to re"nance existing 
 debt and to fund general corporate purposes.

BOARD CHANGES
• On 4 February 2021, Bente Stangeland and Rune Skarveland resigned from Endúr ASA’s board of directors.
• At an extraordinary general meeting held on 10 March 2021, Bjørn Finnøy and Hedvig Bugge Reiersen were elected  
 new board members.

MARKET AND FUTURE OUTLOOK
2020 marked an important turning point for Endúr. From being a group that primarily focused on the highly cyclical 
maritime and o!shore energy markets, Endúr’s core business is today marine infrastructure and aquaculture solutions. 
The implementation of an accretive M&A strategy within these business segments, combined with a required willingness 
to consider both divestments and discontinuation of non-performing and non-core business units, demonstrates the 
board and management’s dedication to Endúr’s strategic redirection. 

As evidenced by Endúr successfully having undertaken two private placements and a substantial bond issue in 
the "nancial markets, Endúr’s expressed strategy has been supported by both the company’s shareholders and 
credit investors. This serves as a con"rmation that Endúr today constitutes a materially more robust company, both 
operationally, "nancially and in terms of industrial and market orientation, than at the outset of the 2020 "nancial year. 

Through the merger with Oceano and the acquisition of BMO Entreprenør, Endúr is today signi"cantly exposed to the 
marine infrastructure market. This is a large market with stable demand for the type of services Endúr provide. Moreover, 
a signi"cant overhang in public investments means that Norwegian authorities have commi$ed to a substantial catch-up 
for the coming years. A growing population in Norway is also increasing demand for up-to-date marine infrastructure.

Changing dynamics for harbour facilities, for example electri"cation of ferries and desire for onshore charging points, 
is also driving growth in the marine infrastructure segment. In total, investments into marine infrastructure in Norway is 
expected to grow by 12% annually, according to the Norwegian national transport plan 2018–2029, section “Økonomiske 
rammer til Kystverket, Post 30 Nyanlegg og større vedlikehold”. The Board believes the combination of BMO Entreprenør, 
Installit and the recently acquired Marcon a!ords a strong pla&orm on which to establish Endúr as one of the main 
marine infrastructure companies in the Nordic region. 

While Endúr’s exposure to the aquaculture supply industry was somewhat limited in 2020, the company’s recent 
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acquisitions have demonstrated the Group’s dedication to position itself for the expected material growth in this highly 
a$ractive industry, particularly within land-based aquaculture projects both domestically and internationally. According 
to Sjømat Norge’s report “Et Blå$ Taktski(e”, aquaculture investments in Norway is expected to grow by 12% annually 
over the next 10 years. This includes land-based aquaculture, 'oating structures and other infrastructure. In the board’s 
opinion Endúr now possesses both the required resources and competences to a$ain a substantial share of this high-
growth market going forward. 

In June 2020, Endúr announced an ambition to build a NOK 2#2.5 billion revenue company within 2022, delivering 10-
12 percent EBITDA-margin. Through the acquisitions of Artec Aqua and Marcon in 2021, Endúr ambitions to reach this 
revenue target of minimum NOK 2 billion already in 2021, considering the sum annualised revenues of the companies 
today comprising the Endúr group.

Order backlog: Per 31 December 2020, the Endúr group had a total order backlog of NOK 853 million. The order backlog 
includes the value of estimated call-o!s of ongoing framework agreements and does not consider the value of options 
connected to existing contracts. Endúr’s proforma backlog, including Artec Aqua and Marcon, was NOK 2.7 billion at 
year-end 2020, underlining the solid pla&orm the recently acquired companies bring into Endúr. 

GOING CONCERN
The Board of Directors of Endúr ASA remains focused on operational, "nancial, strategic and structural measures that 
seek to ensure that the Endúr group is positioned to realise its potential and ambitions, both in the present and for the 
future. The acquisition of BMO Entreprenør AS in 2020, followed by the acquisitions of Artec Aqua AS and Marcon-
Gruppen i Sverige AB, as well as the NOK 1100 million bond issue in 2021 serve as examples of the board’s focus and 
commitment in this regard, as do the decisions to discontinue loss-making and non-core operations.

The Board of Directors consider that the Endúr group’s continuing operations collectively comprise a sound pla&orm for 
pro"table and sustainable operations.

The Board of Endúr ASA con"rms, according to § 3#3 of the Accounting Act, that the annual accounts have been 
prepared based on the assumption for continued operations.
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Continued operations   
Operating revenue 4,5  388,5   334,5 
Other revenue 3  16,5   - 
Revenue   405,0   334,5 

   
Cost of sales   (222,8)  (195,0)
Payroll expenses 6  (153,0)  (101,0)
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 11,12,13  (492,8)  (8,2)
Other operating expenses 28  (53,3)  (20,2)
Operating expenses   (921,8)  (324,4)

   

Operating profit/loss   (516,9)  10,1 

   
Financial income 7  1,0   0,2 
Financial expenses 7  (15,8)  (5,1)
Net financial items   (14,9)  (4,9)

   

Profit/loss before tax   (531,8)  5,3 

Tax 8  5,8   (1,4)
Profit/loss - continued operations   (525,9)  3,9 

   
Discontinued operations   
Pro"t/loss - discontinued operations 9  6,9   (13,5)
Profit/loss for the period   (519,1)  (9,6)

   
   
Other comprehensive income   
Items that will not be reclassi"ed to pro"t and loss in subsequent periods   -   - 
Items which may be reclassi"ed over pro"t and loss in subsequent periods   -   - 
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax   -   - 

   
Total comprehensive income   (519,1)  (9,6)

   
   
Profit / Loss attributable to:   
Owners of the Company   (519,1)  (9,6)
Profit / Loss   (519,1)  (9,6)

   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:   
Owners of the Company   (519,1)  (9,6)
Total comprehensive income   (519,1)  (9,6)

   
   
Earnings per share   
Basic earnings per share (NOK) 10  (1,68)  (0,05)
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 10  (1,68)  (0,05)
   
Earnings per share - continued operations   
Basic earnings per share (NOK) 10  (1,71)  0,02 
Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 10  (1,71)  0,02 

* The comparative information has been restated due to a discontinued operation. See note 9.

  NOTE   2020 2019*      
IFRS IFRS

(NOKm)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME RESTATED



Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 202018

18

(NOKm)

IFRS IFRS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION NOTE 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Assets   
Deferred tax asset 8  11,7   19,6 
Intangible assets and goodwill 11, 13  410,5   114,9 
Property, plant and equipment 12  196,8   50,6 
Equity-accounted investees   0,4   - 
Total non-current assets   619,4   185,1 
   
Inventories 14  10,5   5,9 
Contract assets 5 60,8  44,6 
Trade and other receivables 15, 23  131,2   76,9 
Cash and cash equivalents 16, 23  167,8   20,9 
Total current assets   370,4   148,3 

   

Total assets  989,8  333,4 

   
Equity and liabilities   

Equity   
Share capital 17  7,3   2,1 
Share premium   308,2   167,0 
Other paid-in capital   4,1   0,3 
Retained earnings   -   (57,9)
Equity   319,6   111,5 

   
Liabilities   
Loans and borrowings 18, 23  153,5   13,3 
Lease liabilities 18, 19  116,0   20,5 
Other non-current liabilities   3,6   3,5 
Total non-current liabilities   273,1   37,4 

Loans and borrowings 18, 23  93,7   35,5 
Lease liabilities 18, 19  22,0   14,6 
Trade and other payables 20, 21, 23  248,6   134,4 
Contract liabilities 5 32,7   - 
Total current liabilities   397,1   184,5 

   

Total liabilities  670,2  221,9 

   

Total equity and liabilities  989,8  333,4 

Bergen 29 april 2021

Øivind Omar Horpestad
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)
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Terje Nesbakke
-sign

Tove Ormevik
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Kristoffer Nesse Hope
-sign

Jorunn Helvik Ingebrigtsen
-sign

Hans Olav Storkås
CEO

-sign
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(NOKm)

Cash 'ow from operating activities   
Loss for the period   (519,1)  (9,6)
   
Adjustments for:   
Tax expense / Tax income 8  (5,8)  1,4 
Depreciation, amortisation 11, 12  16,7   14,0 
Impairment Right of use asset   14,9   - 
Impairment Goodwill 11, 13  461,3   - 
Revenue recognition of negative goodwill   (2,4)  - 
Items classi"ed as investments and "nancing activities   3,1   2,3 
Gains on disposal of discontinued operations 9  (6,2)  - 
Share option expense 6, 25  0,1   0,3 
   
Changes in:   
Trade and other receivables   41,6   (6,1)
Trade and other payables   (34,7)  (2,7)
Inventories / contract assets & liabilities   (5,5)  (32,3)
Net cash from operating activities   (36,1)  (32,8)

   
Cash flow from investments activities   
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11, 12  (4,2)  (3,2)
Net ou&low from non-current receivables   (40,5)  - 
E!ect bankruptcy in subsidiary   (3,8)  - 
Business combinations, net cash 3  (170,4)  45,3 
Net cash from investments activities   (218,9)  42,1 

   
Cash flow from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of share capital (capital increase) 17  213,9   0,5 
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 18  229,7   13,9 
Payment of interests   (3,1)  (2,3)
Repayment of lease liabilities 18, 19  (13,0)  (13,0)
Repayment of borrowings 18  (25,6)  (4,0)
Net cash from financing activities   401,9   (5,0)

   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   146,9   4,4 
Cash and cash equivalents as per 1.1   20,9   16,5 
Cash and cash equivalents as per 31.12   167,8   20,9 

Of which is restricted cash 16  26,1   12,4 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS NOTE 2020 2019      
IFRS IFRS



(NOKm)
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20 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity 01.01.2019   52,0   -   -   (48,3)  3,7 

Issue of shares - Business combination   (49,9)  178,6   -   -   128,8 

Business combination - other e!ects   -   (12,1)  -   -   (12,1)

Issue of shares   0,0   0,4   -   -   0,5 

Pro"t (loss)   -   -   -   (9,6)  (9,6)

Equity e!ect of share options   -   -   0,3   -   0,3 

Equity 31.12.2019   2,1   167,0   0,3   (57,9)  111,5 

Equity 01.01.2020   2,1   167,0   0,3   (57,9)  111,5 

Pro"t (loss)   -   (519,1)  -   -   (519,1)

Issue of shares - Business combination 3,17  3,2   474,1   3,7   -   481,1 

Issue of shares 17  2,0   244,0   -   -   246,0 

Adjustments   -   (57,9)  -   57,9   - 

Equity e!ect of share options   -   -   0,1   -   0,1 

Equity 31.12.2020   7,3   308,2   4,1   -   319,6 

Note
Share

capital
Share

premium

Other 

paid-in 

capital

Retained

earnings Total equity
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DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY     
The consolidated accounts have been submi$ed in accordance with EU approved International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and associated interpretations, and also the additional Norwegian information requirement pursuant 
to the Norwegian Accounting Act, and that are applicable as at 31 December 2020. The consolidated accounts is for the 
period 01.01.2020 until 31.12.2020. The proposed annual accounts were adopted by the Board of Directors on 29 April 
2021. The annual accounts will be dealt with by the Ordinary General Meeting in May 2021 for "nal approval. Up until 
"nal approval, the Board of Directors has the authority to amend the annual accounts. 
 
BASIS OF MEASUREMENT      
The consolidated "nancial statements have been prepared based on historical cost.

The consolidated accounts are presented in NOK, which is also the functional currency of the parent company. Financial 
information is stated in NOK thousands, unless otherwise speci"ed.      
      
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION     
The consolidated accounts include the parent company Endúr ASA, subsidiaries, and the group’s shares in associated 
companies and joint ventures. The parent company and the subsidiary are referred to collectively as “the group” and 
individually as “group companies”.

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. 
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identi"able net assets 
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is a company controlled by the group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to a!ect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The "nancial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated "nancial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Loss of control
When the group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any 
related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in pro"t or loss. 
Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Transactions between group companies and inter-company balances, including internal pro"t and unrealised gains and 
losses, are eliminated. Unrealised gains that arise from transactions with associated companies are eliminated with the 
group’s share in the associated company. The same applies to unrealised loss, but only if there are no indications of an 

Endúr ASA is a public limited company based in Norway, and was founded on 22 May 2007. The Company’s registered 
o%ce is at Laksevåg in Bergen. These consolidated "nancial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group” and individually “Group companies”). Endúr ASA is listed on Oslo Stock Exchange with the ticker 
ENDUR.

>>

NOTE 1     CORPORATE INFORMATION

NOTE 2     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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>> NOTE 2    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  *CONTINUED+

impairment of the asset that has been sold internally. The consolidated accounts have been prepared on the assumption 
of uniform accounting principles for similar transactions and other events under similar circumstances. 
     
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES     
Preparation of the annual accounts in accordance with IFRS includes valuations, estimates and assumptions that 
in'uence both the choice of accounting principles applied and reported amounts for assets, obligations, income and 
expenses. During preparation of the annual accounts, the management has used estimates based on best judgement 
and assumptions that are considered realistic based on historical experience. Actual amounts may di!er from estimated 
amounts. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most signi"cant e!ects on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated "nancial statements is included in the following notes:

Note 5 Whether revenue is recognized over time or at a point in time. Identi"cation of performance obligations in 
customer contracts.

Note 19 Classi"cation of lease contracts.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a signi"cant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment in the year to come is included in the following notes:

Note 3 Business combinations: fair value of the consideration transferred and fair value of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed.

Note 8 Recognition of deferred tax assets; availability of future taxable pro"t against which carry forward tax losses can 
be used.

Note 13 Impairment test: key assumptions underlying recoverable amounts.

Note 21 Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies; key assumptions about the likelihood and 
magnitude of an ou&low of resources.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND NEW PRONOUNCEMENTS     
Endúr has not implemented any new accounting standards or otherwise made any signi"cant changes to accounting 
policies during 2020. 

None of the issued, not yet e!ective, accounting standards or amendments to such standards are expected to have 
signi"cant e!ects for Endúr’s "nancial reporting.

Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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BMO ENTREPRENØR AS       
On 17 December 2020, Endúr acquired 100% of the shares in BMO Entreprenør AS.

Endúr’s strategy is to become a leading player within maritime services, including inter alia (i) harbour/quay construction 
and maintenance and (ii) underwater services. The Acquisition of BMO Entreprenør is an important step in line with the 
strategy. BMO Entreprenør is a leading player within the rehabilitation of bridges, quay structures, dam installations and 
other concrete and steel structures. BMO Entreprenør also o!ers diverse underwater services, including everything  from 
inspection dives to full service underwater construction work.       

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED       
The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration transferred.   
     

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED     
The fair value of identi"able assets and liabilities is based on a purchase price allocation. The following table summarises 
the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.    
  

Equity instruments issued       
The fair value of the shares issued was based on the listed share price of the Endúr ASA at 17 December 2020 at NOK 
1,165 per share.       
       
Options       
Endúr issued 12.5 million share options to the sellers of BMO. The options fair value is calculated to NOK 3.7 million.  
           

Cash   297,5 
Shares in Endúr ASA (107 470 870 shares)   125,2 
Options   3,7 
Total consideration transferred   426,4 

Deferred tax assets   6,5 
Order backlog   26,1 
Other intangible assets   0,0 
Property, plant and equipment   102,1 
Financial assets   0,2 
NWC   (22,6)
Net "nancial debt   (65,2)
Deferred tax liability   (8,3)
Cash and bank deposit   108,9 
Total identifiable net assets acquired   147,8 

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Continued operations  
Revenue   808,8 
Cost of sales   (382,9)
Payroll expenses   (259,7)
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment   (516,2)
Other operating expenses   (121,4)
Operating profit/loss   (471,5)

Financial income   1,0 
Financial expenses   (18,6)
Profit/loss before tax   (489,1)

Income tax expense   5,8 
Profit/loss - continued operations   (483,2)

Total consideration transferred   426,5 
- Fair value of identi"able net assets acquired   147,8 
Goodwill   278,7 

Operating revenue   - 
Operating pro"t/loss   - 

GOODWILL   
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows.   
   
 

OCEANO AS   
On 16 October 2020, Endúr acquired 100% of the shares in Oceano AS through a merger. Oceano AS was established as 
a group in 2020, following a merger between ØPD AS and Installit AS.  
 

The goodwill-value can be explained by synergies, economies of scale, expectations of future pro"tability and growth 
and expectations of be$er market conditions.

Profit or loss account in the acquired company after the acquisition date

2020 - Proforma

17.12.2020 - 31.12.2020 Proforma

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS - PROFORMA  
If the business combination had been completed on 1 January 2020, management estimates that the condensed 
consolidated statement of pro"t or loss 2020 would have been according to the table below. In determining these 
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have 
been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2020.

NOTE 3    BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm) 17.12.2020 - 31.12.2020 
Proforma
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Deferred tax assets   0,0 
Order backlog   0,3 
Customer relationships   4,1 
Other intangible assets   0,1 
Property, plant and equipment   47,8 
Financial assets   0,4 
NWC   (56,6)
Net "nancial debt   (108,9)
Deferred tax liability   (1,0)
Cash and bank deposit   17,2 
Total identifiable net assets acquired   (96,7)

Shares in Endúr ASA (215 021 018 shares)   352,1 
Total consideration transferred   352,1  

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED   
The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration transferred.   
 

Equity instruments issued 
The fair value of the ordinary shares issued was based on the listed share price of the Endúr ASA at 16 October 2020 at 
NOK 1,64 per share.  

Subsequent adjustment of the transaction price 
Following the Merger with Oceano, the Company entered into an agreement with the former main shareholders of 
Oceano, whereby such former shareholders shall compensate the Company by transfer of NOK 13 million. The compen-
sation is treated as a subsequent adjustment of the transaction price and included in pro"t and loss, classi"ed as other 
revenue.   
   
 IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED     
The fair value of identi"able assets and liabilities is based on a purchase price allocation. The following table summarises 
the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

Total consideration transferred   352,1 
- Fair value of identi"able net assets acquired   (96,7)
Goodwill   448,8 

As a result of updated expectations related to future pro"tability, the Goodwill related to the CGU ØPD AS was wri$en 
down. See note 13 for further information.

GOODWILL   
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows.   
   
 (NOKm)

>>

NOTE 3    BUSINESS COMBINATIONS *CONTINUED+
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Continued operations  
Revenue   627,1 
Cost of sales   (360,4)
Payroll expenses   (241,8)
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment   (507,6)
Other operating expenses   (83,2)
Operating profit/loss   (565,9)

Financial income   1,1 
Financial expenses   (19,9)
Profit/loss before tax   (584,8)

Income tax expense   5,8 
Profit/loss - continued operations   (579,0)

Operating revenue   50,9 
Operating pro"t/loss   (441,8)

Profit or loss account in the acquired group after the acquisition date

2020 - Proforma

16.10.2020 - 31.12.2020 
Proforma

17.12.2020 - 31.12.2020 Proforma

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS - PROFORMA 
If the business combination had been completed on 1 January 2020, management estimates that the condensed 
consolidated statement of pro"t or loss 2020 would have been according to the table below. In determining these 
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the date of 
acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2020.

NOTE 3    BUSINESS COMBINATIONS *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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OPERATING SEGMENTS        
Endúr ASA reports in 2020 distributed on the following segments. These segments o!er di!erent products and services, 
and are managed seperately because they require di!erent marketing strategies. Inter-segment pricing is determined 
on an arm’s length basis. Segment changes from 2019 to 2020 are due to the business combination described in note 3. 
The segment information for 2019 has been restated as a result of activities being classi"ed as discontinued operations 
ref note 9.

Marine infrastructure
The marine infrastructure segment includes harbour/quay construction and maintenance and underwater services.
Consists of the companies Installit AS, BMO Entreprenør AS and ØPD AS.

Maritime
The Services segment includes maritime service and ship maintenance.
Consists of the company Endúr Maritime AS.

Aquaculture
The Aquaculture segment includes production of concrete barges for the aquaculture industry.
Consists of the companies Endúr Sjøsterk AS and Endúr Eiendom AS.

Energy
The energy segment includes deliveries related to maintenance, modi"cation, installation, fabrication and conversion of 
complex oil and gas installations both onshore and o!shore. This also includes a number of complex service missions 
that require the use of advanced access technology.
Consists of the companies Endúr Industrier AS og Endúr AAK AS. 

Other
Other includes unallocated corporate costs, investments in the Group’s subsidiaries and Group "nancing. 

Segment performance is measured by operating pro"t before depreciation, amortization and write-downs (EBITDA) and 
operating pro"t (EBIT). This is included in internal management reports, of which are being reviewed by the group’s CEO.

Operating revenue   65,2   198,8   51,2   76,0   4,2   (6,9)  388,5 

Operating profit / loss EBITDA   (0,4)  2,0   (5,4)  (7,4)  (12,8)  -   (24,1)

Depreciation, amortisation   (1,0)  (8,5)  (17,5)  (3,6)  (0,9)  -   (31,5)

Impairment   -   (42,3)  (419,0)  -   -   -   (461,3)

Operating profit / loss EBIT   (1,4)  (48,8)  (441,9)  (11,0)  (13,7)  -   (516,9)

Segments assets   96,2   149,0   698,0   29,8   845,0   (838,6)  979,4 

Segment liabilities   26,7   74,3   740,6   38,4   77,5   (297,8)  659,8 

Operating revenue   136,1   163,7   -   38,9   7,3   (11,6)  334,5 

Operating profit / loss EBITDA   15,3   16,9   -   (3,9)  (10,0)  -   18,3 

Depreciation, amortisation   (0,8)  (6,5)  -   (0,3)  (0,6)  -   (8,2)

Impairment   -   -   -    -   -   - 

Operating profit / loss EBIT   14,5   10,4   -   (16,6)  (10,6)  -   10,1 

Segments assets   107,9   205,7   -   69,6   216,3   (266,0)  333,4 

Segment liabilities   22,7   80,7   -   75,9   122,9   (80,4)  221,9 

Aquaculture

Aquaculture

Other

Other

Maritime

Maritime

Intra-group 
eliminations

Intra-group 
eliminations

Marine 
infrastructure

Marine 
infrastructure

Energy

Energy

Total

Total

2019  (NOKm)

2020  (NOKm)

NOTE 4    OPERATING SEGMENTS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS 
Revenues from one customer of the Group’s Maritime segment represented approximately NOK 77 million of the Group’s 
total revenues.
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Revenue is measured based on the consideration speci"ed in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises 
revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. In the pro"t or loss statement revenues from 
contracts with customers are presented net of discounts, VAT and other public duties.     
      
           
Service- and maintenance contracts 
Service and maintenance contracts are mainly time and materials contracts (T&M), but "xed-price contracts and 
elements of "xed-price also occur. Each individual contract is normally considered as a separate performance 
obligation and revenue is recognised over time to depict the delivered time and materials. For contracts with 
signi"cant "xed-price elements an input method is used to measure the progress of the project, which is the basis 
for recognizing revenue over time. 
 
Customized products 
Contracts for customized products constitute one performance obligation. Revenue is recognised over time using an 
input method, such as cost incurred relative to the total estimated costs of completing the performance obligation. 
The Group is entitled to receive payment at completion of milestones agreed by the contract parties. 
 
Contract balances 
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the 
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before 
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. 
 
Trade receivables represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional. 
 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before 
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made. 
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group ful"ls the performance obligation (s) under the contract. 
                
   

NOTE 5    REVENUE
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Aquaculture Maritime Marine 
Infrastructure

Energy Total

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

CONTRACT BALANCES

Primary geographical markets           

Norway and the Norwegian Continental Shelf 65,2   136,1   197,0   161,4   51,2   -   75,1   37,0   388,5   334,5 

Other  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 

 65,2   136,1   197,0   161,4   51,2   -   75,1   37,0   388,5   334,5 

Major products / service lines           

Service and maintenance contracts  -   -   197,0   147,6   51,2   -   -   37,0   248,2   184,6 

Projects - Concrete barges  65,2   136,1   -   -   -   -   -    65,2   136,1 

Other  -   -   -   13,8   -   -   75,1    75,1   13,8 

 65,2   136,1   197,0   161,4   51,2   -   75,1   37,0   388,5   334,5 

Timing of revenue recognition           

Products transferred at a point in time  -   -   -   -    -    -   -   - 

Products and services transferred over time  65,2   136,1   197,0   161,4   51,2   -   75,1   37,0   388,5   334,5 

 65,2   136,1   197,0   161,4   51,2   -   75,1   37,0   388,5   334,5 

202020202020 2020 2020 20192019201920192019

Receivables, wich are included in trade and other receivables     95,7   50,8 

Contract assets      60,8  44,6 

Contract liabilities      32,7  - 

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Performance obligations that are unsatis"ed at the reporting date, have an original expected duration of one year or less.

The contract assets relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the reporting date. 
The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the 
Group issuse an invoice to the customer. There have been signi"cant changes in the balances for the contract asset and 
the contract liability during the reporting period. This is mainly due to the business combination described in note 3.

NOTE 5    REVENUE  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Pensions
The group mainly has de"ned contribution pension schemes that are charged against income as contributions are 
made to the scheme. Some group companies also have an early retirement scheme (AFP) in the LO-NHO area. The AFP 
scheme is accounted for as a de"ned contribution pension scheme, as the scheme’s administrator is not able to make 
the necessary calculation of obligations, assets and pension earnings for each member enterprise. Consequently, 
the premium and contributions will be charged against income as they arise. However, an obligation is calculated 
for employees who have chosen to take early retirement. These are de"ned as active AFPs and the obligation is 
equivalent to the employer’s contribution in the period from when they take early retirement until they reach 67 years 
of age. The obligation is recognized in the consolidated accounts. In the previous AFP scheme,
there is an undercoverage. The company have accrued for the expected cost related to this undercoverage.

Share based payments
The Group has share-based program. The program is measured at fair value at the date of the grant. The share option 
program is se$led in shares. The fair value of the issued options is expensed over the vesting period, which in this case 
is over the agreed-upon future service time. The cost of the employee share-based transaction is expensed over the 
average vesting period. The value of the issued options of the transactions that are se$led with equity instruments 
(se$led with the company’s own shares) is recognised as salary and personnel cost in pro"t and loss and in other 
paid-in capital. Social security tax on options is recorded as a liability and is recognised over the estimated vesting 
period.

The group is required to have a pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian law on required occupational pension 
schemes (“”lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon””).  
The group’s pension arrangements ful"l the law requirements.      
 
The Group has de"ned contribution pension plans for all employees. De"ned contribution plans are post-employment 
bene"t plans under which an entity pays "xed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold su%cient assets to pay all employee 
bene"ts relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The contribution is expensed when it is occures.  
 
The contributions recognised as expenses equalled TNOK 5 549 in 2020 
 
The group has, for some employees, an AFP scheme which gives a lifelong contribution to the ordinary pension. The 
employees can choose to exercise the new AFP-scheme starting at the age of 62 years, also in combination with 
continued work until they turn 67 years old. The new AFP-scheme is a de"ned bene"t multi-employer plan, of which is 
"nanced through contributions that are determined by a percentage of the employee’s earnings between 1G and 7.1G. 
There is currently no reliable measure and allocation of liabilities and assets in the plan. The plan is accounted for as a 
de"ned contribution plan, of which means that the contributions are recognised as expenses with no provisions. 

Share options: See note 24 for further information.        

PAYROLL EXPENSES

Salaries and holiday pay   125,4   83,3 

Employer`s national insurance contribution   17,6   12,4 

Share-based payment   0,1   0,3 

Pension expenses   5,6   4,0 

Other payroll expenses   4,3   1,1 

Total   153,0   101,0  

 

Number of employees 31.12   464   291 

20192020(NOKm)
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NET FINANCE COSTS

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Salaries and holiday pay   125,4   83,3 

Employer`s national insurance contribution   17,6   12,4 

Share-based payment   0,1   0,3 

Pension expenses   5,6   4,0 

Other payroll expenses   4,3   1,1 

Total   153,0   101,0  

 

Number of employees 31.12   464   291 

Interest income   1,0   0,2 

Currency gain   0,0   0,0 

Finance income   1,0   0,2 

   

Interest cost   7,1   3,6 

Currency loss   0,3   0,1 

Other "nancial expenses   8,5   1,3 

Finance costs   15,9   5,1 

   

Net finance costs recognised in the income statement  (14,9)  (4,9)

20192020

20192020

The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on all 
di!erences between the book value and tax value of assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that the company will have a su%cient pro"t for tax purposes in 
subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. The companies recognise previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the 
extent it has become probable that the company can utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will reduce 
a deferred tax asset to the extent that the company no longer regards it as probable that it can utilise the deferred tax 
asset. 

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis of the expected future tax rates applicable to the 
companies in the Group where temporary di!erences have arisen. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognised 
at their nominal value and classi"ed as non-current asset investments (long-term liabilities) in the balance sheet.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Tax payable    

Tax payable for the year  -  - 

Total tax payable for the period   -   - 

Changes deferred tax    

Changes in deferred tax   5,8   (1,4)

Total changes deferred tax   5,8   (1,4)

    

Net tax income / expense   5,8   (1,4) >>

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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2019

Loss    (519,1)   (9,6)

Net tax income / expense    (5,8)   1,4 

Loss before tax    (524,9)   (8,2)

     

Tax at nominal tax rate  22,0 %  115,5  22,0 %  1,8 

Other permanent di!erences  -22,2 %  (116,7) 20,1 %  1,7 

E!ects of temporary di!erences not recognized 1,3 %  7,1  -59,3 %  (4,9)

Net tax income / expense for the group  1,1 %  5,8  -17,2 %  (1,4)

Non current assets   (10,7)  0,1   4,7   (8,0)  (13,8)

Currents assets   (30,5)  (4,5)  -   28,3   (6,8)

Provisions   (0,0)  0,0   -   (9,9)  (9,9)

Other di!erences   (1,3)  0,0   -   (0,1)  (1,4)

Excess values   -   -   -   42,0   42,0 

Interest deductibility carried forward   (55,6)  -   -   -   (55,6)

Taxable loss carried forward   (443,2)  10,0   240,7   (188,4)  (380,9)

Total basis related to deferred tax   (541,3)  5,6   245,4   (136,1)  (426,3)

Net deferred tax asset   119,1   (1,2)  (54,0)  29,9   93,8 

      

Net deferred tax asset - not recognised in the accounts  99,4   (7,1)  (54,0)  43,7   82,1 

Net deferred tax asset - recognised in the accounts    19,6   5,8   -   (13,8)  11,7  

31.12.2019 31.12.2020

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss
Bankruptcy 

subsidiary

Acquired in 
business 

combinations

MOVEMENT IN DEFFERED TAX BALANCES 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the total basis, because it is not probable that future taxable 
pro"t will be available against which the Group can use the bene"ts therefrom.

NOTE 8    TAX  *CONTINUED+

20192020(NOKm)

(NOKm)

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE
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Loss    (519,1)   (9,6)

Net tax income / expense    (5,8)   1,4 

Loss before tax    (524,9)   (8,2)

     

Tax at nominal tax rate  22,0 %  115,5  22,0 %  1,8 

Other permanent di!erences  -22,2 %  (116,7) 20,1 %  1,7 

E!ects of temporary di!erences not recognized 1,3 %  7,1  -59,3 %  (4,9)

Net tax income / expense for the group  1,1 %  5,8  -17,2 %  (1,4)

Non current assets   (10,7)  0,1   4,7   (8,0)  (13,8)

Currents assets   (30,5)  (4,5)  -   28,3   (6,8)

Provisions   (0,0)  0,0   -   (9,9)  (9,9)

Other di!erences   (1,3)  0,0   -   (0,1)  (1,4)

Excess values   -   -   -   42,0   42,0 

Interest deductibility carried forward   (55,6)  -   -   -   (55,6)

Taxable loss carried forward   (443,2)  10,0   240,7   (188,4)  (380,9)

Total basis related to deferred tax   (541,3)  5,6   245,4   (136,1)  (426,3)

Net deferred tax asset   119,1   (1,2)  (54,0)  29,9   93,8 

      

Net deferred tax asset - not recognised in the accounts  99,4   (7,1)  (54,0)  43,7   82,1 

Net deferred tax asset - recognised in the accounts    19,6   5,8   -   (13,8)  11,7  

The board of the subsidiary Endúr Energy Solutions AS decided on 13 February 2020 to "le for bankruptcy. The company 
had for some time experienced a strained liquidity situation, and the board considered that there was no longer a basis 
for continued operations.

The result up to the bankruptcy is presented as discontinued operations. In addition, gains realated to the bankruptcy are 
presented as discontinued operations.

EFFECT OF DISPOSAL

Property, plant and equipment     12,5 

Contract assets     14,2 

Trade and other receivables     24,4 

Cash and cash equivalents     3,8 

Lease liabilities     (11,7)

Loans and borrowings     (13,9)

Trade and other payables     (35,6)

Net assets and liabilities     (6,2)

NOTE 9     DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

2020

RESULTS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

IRevenue     4,9   162,7 
Expenses     (4,3)  (176,2)
Profit/loss before tax     0,7   (13,5)

Income tax expense     -   - 
Profit/loss     0,7   (13,5)

Gain discontinued operations     6,2   - 
Net result from discontinued operations     6,9   (13,5)

   
Earnings per share - discontinued operations   
Earnings per share (NOK)     0,02   (0,07)
Diluted earnings per share (NOK)     0,02   (0,07)

20192020(NOKm)

CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net cash used in operating activities     -   (2,3)

Net cash from investing activities     (3,8)  (1,1)

Net cash from "nancing activities     -   3,5 

Net cash flow     (3,8)  0,1 

20192020(NOKm)

(NOKm)

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES 

At disposal of a separate major line of business, the pro"t or loss from these operations, including gains/losses from 
the derecognition is classi"ed as discontinued operations, if the criteria in IFRS 5 have been met. Pro"t/loss from group 
of as- sets classi"ed as held for sale is also classi"ed as discontinued operations. When discontinued operations are 
identi"ed, the comparable amounts in the income statement and other comprehensive income, and the accompanying 
notes, are restated restated to re'ect these operations in the previous year as if they were discontinued in that year.
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20192020

The basic earnings per share are calculated as the ratio of the pro"t for the year that is due to the shareholders of the 
parent divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding. When calculating the diluted earnings 
per share, the pro"t/loss that is a$ributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent and the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for all the dilution e!ects relating to convertible bonds and share options. In 
the calculations, convertible bonds and share options are assumed to have been converted/ exercised  on the "rst date 
in the "scal year. Convertible bonds and share options issued in the period are assumed to be converted/ exercised at 
the date of issue/ grant date. 

RESULTAT HENFØRT TIL ORDINÆRE AKSJER *BASIS+

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

PROFIT *LOSS+ ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS *BASIC+

WEIGHTED,AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES *DILUTED+

PROFIT *LOSS+ ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS *DILUTED+

Resultat henført til ordinære aksjer (Basis)   (519,1)  (9,6)

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January     213 091 018   20 000 
E!ect of shares issued related to a business combination  19.02.2019   194 581 096 
E!ect of shares issued   19.11.2019   53 014 
E!ect of shares issued   08.07.2020  32 146 119  
E!ect of shares issued   13.07.2020  1 561 643  
E!ect of shares issued related to a business combination  17.10.2020  44 182 401  
E!ect of shares issued   18.11.2020  12 557 137  
E!ect of shares issued   18.12.2020  3 827 730  
E!ect of shares issued related to a business combination  18.12.2020  742 009  
E!ect of shares issued   21.12.2020  57 100  
Weihted-average number of ordinary shares at 31 December     308 165 157   194 654 110 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)    308 165 157   194 654 110 

Weihted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December    308 165 157   194 654 110 

Pro"t (loss) a$ributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)    (519,1)  (9,6)

Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)    (519,1)  (9,6)

Date

The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the forllowing pro"t a$ributable to ordinary shareholders 
and weighted-average number of shares outstanding.

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 
The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the forllowing pro"t a$ributable to ordinary shareholders 
and weighted-average number of shares outstanding a(er adjustment for the e!ects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.

At 31 December 2020, 4 995 000 convertible bonds and 13 500 000 options were excluded from the diluted weighted-
average number of ordinary shares calculation because their e!ect would have been anti-dilutive.

NOTE 10    EARNINGS PER SHARE

20192020

20192020

20192020

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)



Licences, 
patents etc.

Licences, 
patents etc.

Note
Customer 

relationships
Order 

backlog Goodwill

Goodwill

Total

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2020   2,2   -   -   113,6   115,8 
Acquisitions 2020   -   -   -   -   - 
Acquisitions through business combinations 3  0,1   4,1   26,4   727,5   758,1 
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2020   2,4   4,1   26,4   841,1   873,9 
Accumulated depreciations as of 1 Jan. 2020   (0,9)  -   -   -   (0,9)
Current year’s depreciations   (1,1)  -   -   -   (1,1)
Current year’s impairment 13  -   -   -   (461,3)  (461,3)
Acc. Amort. and imp. losses 31 Dec. 2020   (2,0)  -   -   (461,3)  (463,4)
       
Book value 31. Dec. 2020   0,3   4,1   26,4   379,8   410,5 
       
Amortisation rates  10 years 7 years 2,5 years Impairment 
Amortisation plan  Linear Linear Linear test 

See note 13 for details regarding impairment-testing.

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2019    -   -   - 
Acquisitions 2019     0,8   -   0,8 
Acquisitions through business combinations     1,4   113,6   114,9 
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2019     2,2   113,6   115,8 

Accumulated depreciations as of 1 Jan. 2019     -   -   - 
Current year’s depreciations     (0,9)  -   (0,9)
Current year’s impairment     -   -   - 
Acc. Amort. and imp. losses 31 Dec. 2019    (0,9)  -   (0,9)

       

Book value 31. Dec. 2019     1,3   113,6   114,9 

Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 35

ENDÚR ASA ! NOTES GROUP

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are carried at cost. The costs of intangible assets acquired through 
an acquisition are recognised at their fair value in the Group’s opening balance sheet. Capitalised intangible assets are 
recognised at cost less any amortisation and impairment losses.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised but are expensed 
as occurred.

The economic life is either de"nite or inde"nite. Intangible assets with a de"nite economic life are amortised over their 
economic life and tested for impairment if there are any indications. The amortisation method and period are assessed 
at least once a year. Changes to the amortisation method and/or period are  accounted for as a change in estimate.

Intangible assets with an inde"nite economic life and goodwill are tested for impairment at least once a year, either 
individually or as a part of a cash-generating unit. Intangible assets with an inde"nite economic life and goodwill are not 
amortised. The economic life is assessed annually with regard to whether the assumption of an inde"nite economic life 
can be justi"ed. If it cannot, the change to a de"nite economic life is made prospectively.

NOTE 11    INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)    308 165 157   194 654 110 

Weihted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December    308 165 157   194 654 110 

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Property plant and equipment are valued at their cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. When 
assets are sold or disposed of, the carrying amount is derecognised and any gain or loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

The cost of property plant and equipment is the purchase price, including taxes/duties and costs directly linked to 
preparing the asset ready for its intended use. Costs incurred a(er the asset is in use, such as regular maintenance costs, 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, while other costs that are expected to provide future "nancial 
bene"ts are capitalised.

The depreciation period and method are assessed each year. A residual value is estimated at each year-end, and 
changes to the estimated residual value are recognised as a change in an estimate.

Assets under construction are classi"ed as non-current assets and recognised at cost until the production or 
development process is completed. Assets under construction are not depreciated until the asset is taken into use. An 
impairment loss is identi"ed if the carrying amount of a tangible asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment 
loss is recognised by reducing the carrying amount of the tangible asset to equal the recoverable amount.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land, 
buildings

Land, 
buildings

Note

Note

Right of use 
asset

Right of use 
asset

Plant, 
equipment

Plant, 
equipment

Operating 
equipment

Operating 
equipment

Total

Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2020   15,2   45,8   5,9   7,8   74,8 

Acquisitions   2,8   30,9   0,2   1,3   35,1 

Business combination 3  7,2   85,1   26,3   35,3   154,0 

Disposals   (0,3)  (11,1)  (0,5)  (0,6)  (12,5)

Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2020   24,8   150,7   31,9   43,8   251,3 

Acc. Depr/impairment 1 Jan. 2020   (1,2)  (15,6)  (1,3)  (6,1)  (24,1)

Depreciation   (1,0)  (11,3)  (2,4)  (0,9)  (15,5)

Impairment 13  -   (14,9)  -   -   (14,9)

Acc. Depr/impairment 31 Dec. 2020   (2,1)  (41,7)  (3,7)  (7,0)  (54,5)

       

Book value 31. Dec. 2019   22,7   109,0   28,3   36,9   196,8 

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2019   0,9   21,4   0,6   5,7   28,6 
Acquisitions   0,9   -   0,7   0,8   2,3 
Business combination  13,4   27,8   4,7   1,3   47,3 
Disposals   -   (3,4)  -   -   (3,4)
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2019   15,2   45,8   5,9   7,8   74,8 

Acc. Depr/impairment 1 Jan. 2019   (0,3)  (5,1)  (0,1)  (5,5)  (11,0)
Depreciation   (0,9)  (10,5)  (1,2)  (0,6)  (13,1)
Acc. Depr/impairment 31 Dec. 2019  (1,2)  (15,6)  (1,3)  (6,1)  (24,1)

       

Book value 31. Dec. 2019  14,0   30,2   4,6   1,8   50,6 
       
Depreciation rates  0 - 5 % 15 - 50 % 10 - 33 % 10 - 33 % 
Depreciation plan  Linear Linear Linear Linear 

NOTE 12    PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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The carrying amounts of the group’s assets, other than employee bene"t assets, inventories, deferred tax assets 
and derivatives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If an indication of impairment exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Cash-generating units (CGU) containing goodwill, assets that have an inde"nite useful life and intangible assets that 
are not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash 'ows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that re'ects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speci"c to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash in'ows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. An impairment loss recognised in respect of CGU 
is allocated "rst to goodwill and then to the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed. An impairment loss on other assets is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, and the change can be objectively related to 
an event occurring a(er the impairment was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Endúr performs a test of the value of goodwill and other intangible assets annually or at the end of each reporting period, 
if there is indication of impairment of the assets. The impairment losses in 2020 was as follows:

Marine infrastructure - BMO Entreprenør AS  278,7   - 
Marine infrastructure - Installit AS  29,8   - 
Maritime - Endúr Maritime AS 15,7  58,0 
Aquaculture - Endúr Sjøsterk AS  48,5   48,5 
Energy - Endúr AAK AS  7,1   7,1 
Total goodwill 379,8  113,6  

Marine infrastructure - ØPD AS  419,0   - 

Maritime - Endúr Maritime AS  42,3   - 

Total impairment  461,3   - 

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
Endúrs goodwill originates from business combination in February 2019, October 2020 and December 2020.
Goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s cash generating units as follows:

NOTE 13    IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

31.12.2019

2019

31.12.2020

2020

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2020   15,2   45,8   5,9   7,8   74,8 

Acquisitions   2,8   30,9   0,2   1,3   35,1 

Business combination 3  7,2   85,1   26,3   35,3   154,0 

Disposals   (0,3)  (11,1)  (0,5)  (0,6)  (12,5)

Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2020   24,8   150,7   31,9   43,8   251,3 

Acc. Depr/impairment 1 Jan. 2020   (1,2)  (15,6)  (1,3)  (6,1)  (24,1)

Depreciation   (1,0)  (11,3)  (2,4)  (0,9)  (15,5)

Impairment 13  -   (14,9)  -   -   (14,9)

Acc. Depr/impairment 31 Dec. 2020   (2,1)  (41,7)  (3,7)  (7,0)  (54,5)

       

Book value 31. Dec. 2019   22,7   109,0   28,3   36,9   196,8 

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2019   0,9   21,4   0,6   5,7   28,6 
Acquisitions   0,9   -   0,7   0,8   2,3 
Business combination  13,4   27,8   4,7   1,3   47,3 
Disposals   -   (3,4)  -   -   (3,4)
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2019   15,2   45,8   5,9   7,8   74,8 

Acc. Depr/impairment 1 Jan. 2019   (0,3)  (5,1)  (0,1)  (5,5)  (11,0)
Depreciation   (0,9)  (10,5)  (1,2)  (0,6)  (13,1)
Acc. Depr/impairment 31 Dec. 2019  (1,2)  (15,6)  (1,3)  (6,1)  (24,1)

       

Book value 31. Dec. 2019  14,0   30,2   4,6   1,8   50,6 
       
Depreciation rates  0 - 5 % 15 - 50 % 10 - 33 % 10 - 33 % 
Depreciation plan  Linear Linear Linear Linear 

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

>>

Maritim
As of 31.12.2020, the Group performed an impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with 
requirements in IAS 36. The value in use has been used in order to determine recoverable amount. The calculations 
are based upon estimated future cash 'ows for the cash generating unit, Endúr Maritime. The calculations are based 
upon budgets and long term pro"t goals for the period 2021 up to and including 2024. Budgeted EBITDA is based on 
expectations for future results taking into account experience from historical results. For subsequent periods, a growth 
rate of 2% has been used, which is in line with the expected in'ation rate. WACC of 9,15% a(er tax and EBITDA-margin 
of 2#3% has been used. Following the impairment loss recognised in the CGU, the recoverable amount was equal to the 
carrying amount. Therefore, any adverse movement in a key assumption would lead to further impairment.
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Aquaculture
As of 31.12.2020, the Group performed an impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with 
requirements in IAS 36. The value in use has been used in order to determine recoverable amount. The calculations are 
based upon estimated future cash 'ows for the cash generating unit, Endúr Sjøsterk. The calculations are based upon 
budgets and long term pro"t goals for the period 2021 up to and including 2024. Budgeted EBITDA is based on expectations 
for future results taking into account experience from historical results. For subsequent periods, a growth rate of 2% has 
been used, which is in line with the expected in'ation rate. WACC of 9,15% a(er tax and EBITDA-margin of 5#6% has been 
used. Estimated recoverable amount of cash-generating unit exceeds book value.

The headroom related to the Aquaculture-segment in the impairment-test amounts to MNOK 28,2. 

The following table shows the the sensitivity related to changes in the key assumptions.

Marine infrastructure - Installit AS
As of 31.12.2020, the Group performed an impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with 
requirements in IAS 36. The value in use has been used in order to determine recoverable amount. The calculations 
are based upon estimated future cash 'ows for the cash generating unit, Endúr Sjøsterk. The calculations are based 
upon budgets and long term pro"t goals for the period 2021 up to and including 2025. Budgeted EBITDA is based 
on expectations for future results taking into account experience from historical results. WACC of 12,5% a(er tax 
and EBITDA-margin of 7% has been used. Estimated recoverable amount equals book value.Therefore, any adverse 
movement in a key assumption would lead to further impairment.

The following table shows the the sensitivity related to changes in the key assumptions

Discount rate +1%     (8,3)  - 

Terminal value growth rate -1%     (9,3)  - 

Average EBITDA-margin -0,5%     (9,0)  -  

Discount rate +1%     (1,1)  (1,1)

Average EBITDA-margin -0,5%     (2,7)  (2,7)

Nedskrivning

Nedskrivning

Effect recoverable amount Impairment

ImpairmentEffect recoverable amount

Sensitivity - changes in key assumptions

Sensitivity - changes in key assumptions

NOTE 13    IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS  *CONTINUED+

Energy
As of 31.12.2020, the Group performed an impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with 
requirements in IAS 36. The value in use has been used in order to determine recoverable amount. The calculations 
are based upon estimated future cash 'ows for the cash generating unit, Endúr AAK. The calculations are based 
upon budgets and long term pro"t goals for the period 2021 up to and including 2024. Budgeted EBITDA is based on 
expectations for future results taking into account experience from historical results. For subsequent periods, a growth 
rate of 2% has been used, which is in line with the expected in'ation rate. WACC of 10,1% a(er tax and EBITDA-margin 
of 1,25% has been used. Estimated recoverable amount of cash-generating unit exceeds book value.

The headroom related to the Energy-segment in the impairment-test amounts to MNOK 0,7. 

The following table shows the the sensitivity related to changes in the key assumptions.

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

>>
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Inventories are recognised in the accounts at the lower of the acquisition cost and net realisable value. The net realisable 
value is the estimated sales price in ordinary operations, less estimated costs relating to completion, marketing and 
distribution. The cost of inventory is based on the FIFO method and includes costs of bringing the goods to their present 
state and location.

31.12.2020

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

31.12.2019

INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumables    10,5   5,9 

Total    10,5   5,9 

Inventories at 31 Dec. at cost price    14,7   7,0 

Inventories at 31 Dec. at net realisable value    (4,1)  (1,1)

Total    10,5   5,9 

NOTE 14    INVENTORIES

Marine infrastruktur -  ØPD AS
As of 31.12.2020, the Group performed an impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with 
requirements in IAS 36. 
 
At 31.12.2020, ØPD AS experienced a strained liquidity situation, and on 5 February 2021, the Board of directors decided to 
"le for bankruptcy in the company, ref note 30. Based on the situation in ØPD AS as of 31.12.2020 the Group management 
was not able to estimate supportable positive cash 'ows from the CGU ØPD AS. The recoverable amount had therefor 
been estimated based on fair value less cost of sale. 
 
An individual assessment has been made of the recoverable amount of PPE and right of use assets of NOK 41 million. As 
a result of the company’s situation on 31.12.20 and the subsequent bankruptcy in 2021, the conditions related to goodwill 
that arose at the time of the acquisition are no longer considered to be present. This includes names, customer loyalty, 
employees, location and products that were not identi"ed separately in connection with the acquisition. Goodwill has 
been impaired in full, with an amount of nok 419 million.  In addition, an impairment of nok 14,9 million was recognised 
related to righ-of-use asset within the CGU. The allocation was based on the right-of-use assets individual fair value less 
cost of disposal. The fair value measurement of PPE and right of use asset was categorised as Level 3 fair value, based on 
non-observable inputs. The fair value of the right-of-use asset was estimable by reference to the cash 'ows that may be 
generated via sublease. The fair value less cost of disposal of PPE was based on estimated sales values. 
 
Following the impairment loss recognised in the CGU, the recoverable amount was equal to the carrying amount. Therefore, 
any adverse movement in a key assumption would lead to further impairment.

Discount rate +1%     (0,6)  - 

Terminal value growth rate -1%     (1,1)  (0,3)

Average EBITDA-margin -0,5%     (3,3)  (2,5)

Effect recoverable amount Impairment

Sensitivity - changes in key assumptions

NOTE 13    IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Avsetninger 
for tap

2018

Provision 
for loss

Provision 
for loss

Gross
receivables 

Gross
receivables 

MATURITY PROFILE OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 

2020 2019

Not overdue   57,2   -   38,6   - 

Due in 0#30 days   12,4   -   5,9   - 

Due in 31#90 days   9,6   (0,0)  3,3   - 

Due in 91#365 days   9,9   (1,0)  2,7   (0,1)

Due in > 1 year *   9,3   (1,7)  1,3   (0,8)

Total   98,4   (2,7)  51,8   (1,0)

Trade and other receivables are recognized at the original invoiced amount, less impairment losses. Impairment losses are 
estimated based on the expected credit loss method (ECL).

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables at nominal value    98,4   51,8 

Provision for bad debt   (2,7)  (1,0)

Trade receivables, net    95,7   50,8 

Net investment - lease    2,0   3,4 

VAT receivable    1,0   5,9 

Prepaid expenses    6,5   6,0 

Other short-term receivables    86,0   54,0 

Provision for bad debt    (60,0)  (43,2)

Total    131,2   76,9 

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

NOTE 15    RECEIVABLES

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

There have been signi"cant changes in the balances during the reporting period.

This is mainly due to the business combinations described in note 3

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Not overdue   57,2   -   38,6   - 

Due in 0#30 days   12,4   -   5,9   - 

Due in 31#90 days   9,6   (0,0)  3,3   - 

Due in 91#365 days   9,9   (1,0)  2,7   (0,1)

Due in > 1 year *   9,3   (1,7)  1,3   (0,8)

Total   98,4   (2,7)  51,8   (1,0)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

RESTRICTED FUNDS

Cash and bank deposits - unrestricted funds    141,7   8,5 

Cash and bank deposits - restricted funds    26,1   12,4 

Total    167,8   20,9 

Tax withholding accounts    20,0   7,8 

Security related to guarantees issued    2,5   1,0 

Deposit accounts for non-insured pension obligations    3,6   3,6 

Total    26,1   12,4 

NOTE 16    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

There have been signi"cant changes in the balances during the reporting period.

This is mainly due to the business combinations described in note 3

Share capital        
Private Placement registrered 8 July 2020 -Tthe company’s share capital increased by NOK 666,666.67, from NOK 
2,130,910.18 to NOK 2,797,576.85, by issuing 66,666,667 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 13 July 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 33,333.33 from NOK 
2,797,576.85 to NOK 2,830,910.17, by issuing 3,333,332 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Business combination registrered 16 october 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 2,150,210.18, from 
NOK 2,830,910.17 to NOK 4,981,120.35 by issuing 215,021,018 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Private Placement registrered 18 November 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 1,041,671.59, from 
NOK 4,981,120.35 to NOK 6,022,791.94, by issuing 104,167,159 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Business combination registrered 18 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 1,074,708.70, 
from NOK 6,022,791.94 to NOK 7,097,500.64 by issuing 107,470,870 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 18 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 208,333.33 from 
NOK 7,097,500.64 to NOK 7,305,833.96, by issuing 20,833,332 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 21 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 20,841.40 from 
NOK 7,305,833.96 to NOK 7,326,675.36, by issuing 2,084,140 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
At 31 December 2020, the share capital of Endúr ASA was NOK 7 326 675.36 , divided into 732 667 536 shares, each with 
a nominal value of NOK 0.01. All shares have equal voting rights.       
 

NOTE 17    SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION  

>>

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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       NO OF SHARES HOLDING

SHAREHOLDERS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020  

BEVER HOLDING AS      84 027 899  11,47 %
MIDDELBORG INVEST AS      82 000 708  11,19 %
HANDELAND INDUSTRI AS      61 325 000  8,37 %
SONGA CAPITAL AS      45 900 098  6,26 %
TIGERSTADEN MARINE AS      44 108 830  6,02 %
BRIAN CHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED      30 251 443  4,13 %
AS FLYFISK      23 064 606  3,15 %
LANGÅKER      16 429 161  2,24 %
TATOMI INVEST AS      15 775 000  2,15 %
TIGHT HOLDING AS      14 843 470  2,03 %
GIMLE INVEST AS      12 206 513  1,67 %
ENERGON HOLDING AS      11 900 000  1,62 %
BR INDUSTRIER AS      10 591 666  1,45 %
SPAREBANK 1 MARKETS AS      9 800 000  1,34 %
TIGERSTADEN AS      9 735 712  1,33 %
EIKELAND HOLDING AS      9 156 356  1,25 %
TRIONOR AS      8 758 351  1,20 %
SONGA INVESTMENTS AS      6 944 444  0,95 %
RUSTEN      5 814 679  0,79 %
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB      5 228 426  0,71 %
TOTAL SHARES OWNED BY 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS      507 862 362  69,32 %

OTHER SHAREHOLDERS      224 805 174  30,68 %
TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES 31.12.2020      732 667 536  100,00 %

>> NOTE 17    SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION *CONTINUED+

BOARD MEMBER     TITLE                        OWNERSHIP    NO OF SHARES HOLDING

Øivind Horpestad Chairman of 
  the Board of Directors Shares owned by Gimle Invest AS   12 206 513   1,67 %

Terje Nesbakken Board member     0,00 %

Rune Skarveland Board member  Shares owned by Handeland Industri AS 61 325 000   8,37 %

Bente Stangeland Board member Shares owned by AS Fly"sk  23 064 606   3,15 %

Tove Ormevik Board member    20 000   0,00 %

Hans Pe$er Eikeland CEO  Shares owned by Eikeland Holding AS 9 156 356   1,25 %

Nils Ingemund Ho! CFO  Shares owned by Eagle AS  1 750 333   0,24 %

Total shares 31.12.2020 owned by 
board members and  their closely-related parties and executive personnel  95 316 295   13,01 %

Shares owned by executive personnel and board members       
The following table shows shares owned by executive personnel and board members, including shares owned by their 
closely-related persons and companies, as of 31 December 2020.      
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BEVER HOLDING AS      84 027 899  11,47 %
MIDDELBORG INVEST AS      82 000 708  11,19 %
HANDELAND INDUSTRI AS      61 325 000  8,37 %
SONGA CAPITAL AS      45 900 098  6,26 %
TIGERSTADEN MARINE AS      44 108 830  6,02 %
BRIAN CHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED      30 251 443  4,13 %
AS FLYFISK      23 064 606  3,15 %
LANGÅKER      16 429 161  2,24 %
TATOMI INVEST AS      15 775 000  2,15 %
TIGHT HOLDING AS      14 843 470  2,03 %
GIMLE INVEST AS      12 206 513  1,67 %
ENERGON HOLDING AS      11 900 000  1,62 %
BR INDUSTRIER AS      10 591 666  1,45 %
SPAREBANK 1 MARKETS AS      9 800 000  1,34 %
TIGERSTADEN AS      9 735 712  1,33 %
EIKELAND HOLDING AS      9 156 356  1,25 %
TRIONOR AS      8 758 351  1,20 %
SONGA INVESTMENTS AS      6 944 444  0,95 %
RUSTEN      5 814 679  0,79 %
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB      5 228 426  0,71 %
TOTAL SHARES OWNED BY 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS      507 862 362  69,32 %

OTHER SHAREHOLDERS      224 805 174  30,68 %
TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES 31.12.2020      732 667 536  100,00 %

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 01.01.2018

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Non-current loans and borrowings    

Secured bank loans     147,5   13,3 

Other loans     6,0   - 

Lease liabilities     116,0   20,5 

Current loans and borrowings     

Credit line     9,4   13,9 

Secured bank loans     77,3   0,8 

Convertible loan     6,0   16,6 

Shareholder loan     1,0   4,2 

Lease liabilities     22,0   14,6 

Total     385,3   83,9 

NOTE 18    LOANS AND BORROWINGS

On March 3, 2021, Endúr ASA issued a secured bond loan of NOK 1,100 million maturing in 2025.

The net proceeds from the bond were used, among other things, to re"nance existing debt. This means that all bank loans, 
convertible loans, shareholder loans, other loans and credit lines were se$led in March 2021.

31.12.201931.12.2020(NOKm)

TERMS AND REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

Converible loan  NOK 6 % 2021  6,0 

Secured bank loan  NOK 3#4% 2020#2023  13,5 

Secured bank loan  NOK 4 % 2021  15,0 

Secured bank loan  NOK 4 % 2021#2024  196,3 

Shareholder loan  NOK 5 % 2021  1,0 

Other loan  NOK 10 % 2023  6,0 

Lease liabilities  NOK 6 % 2020#2024  138,1 

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2020
Nominal 

interest rate
Year of 

maturityCurrency(NOKm)

>>
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Bank loan 
The bank loan of mnok 13,5 is secured by (i) mortgage regarding all shares in Endúr Sjøsterk AS, (ii) collateral in land and 
buildings in Endúr Eiendom AS, and (iii) security in Endúr Maritime AS’s inventories, receivables and other assets. 
 
Bank loan 
The bank loan of mnok 196,3 is secured by (i) mortgage regarding all shares in BMO Entreprenør AS and Endur Bidco 
Holding AS.   
   
Convertible loan 
The convertible loan is secured by (i) mortgage regarding all shares in Endúr Maritime AS, (ii) collateral in the company’s 
accounts receivables, (iii) collateral in the company’s bank accounts; And (iii) security in Endúr Maritime AS’s bank 
accounts, accounts receivable and assets. 
 
EEIM shall, on request from Endúr ASA, give priority to: i) the ratio between equity and total capital of the Group on a 
consolidated basis and in Endúr Maritime AS as stated in the accounts (and in accordance with GAAP) is above 33%. 
(“”Equity Ratio””), and that consolidated interest rate coverage at any time is above 2: 1, and in Endúr Maritime AS is 
above 3: 1, both measured on a 12-month rolling basis, starting 1 January 2017. 
 
The convertible bond loan will give priority to its collateral including if it is necessary to "nance existing debt or raise new 
debt and that such funding will not lead to violations of the "nancial covenants.  
 
 CARRYING AMOUNT OF ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY FOR LIABILITIES  
 

NOTE 18    LÅN  *CONTINUED+

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Property, plant and equipment     16,0   3,4 

Inventories     7,3   5,9 

Contract assets     33,7   28,3 

Trade and other receivables     14,8   24,5 

Cash and cash equivalents     10,8   5,1 

(NOKm)

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Balance as at 1 January 2020   16,6   13,9   14,1   4,2   35,1   83,9 

Changes from "nancing cash 'ows       

Proceeds from loans and borrowings    9,4   211,3   9,0    229,7 

Repayment of lease liabilities       (13,0)  (13,0)

Repayment of borrowings   (8,5)   (15,6)  (1,5)   (25,6)

Total changes from financing cash flows   (8,5)  9,4   195,8   7,5   (13,0)  191,2 

Changes arising from business combinations    15,0   25,3   90,8   131,1 

Other changes   (2,1)  (13,9)  -   (30,0) 25,8   (20,8)

Balance at 31 December 2020   6,0   9,4   224,8   7,0   138,1 385,3 

Convertible 
loan Credit line

Secured 
bank loan

Shareholder 
loan / 

Other loan

Finance 
lease 

liabilities Total(NOKm)
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NOTE 19    LEASES 

Property, plant and equipment     16,0   3,4 

Inventories     7,3   5,9 

Contract assets     33,7   28,3 

Trade and other receivables     14,8   24,5 

Cash and cash equivalents     10,8   5,1 

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The leasing liability as of December 31, 2020 primarily comprises lease of o%ce space and other property.

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

LEASING LIABILITIES

AS A LESSEE

2020 2019

ASE INTEREST EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN P&L

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the start date of the lease. On initial recognition in the 
balance sheet, the right-of-use assets is measured at cost. Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost 
less depreciation and impairment. On initial recognition in the balance sheet, the lease liabiliy is measured at the present 
value of future lease payments. The present value is calculated by discounting the rental payments using the implicit 
interest rate in the lease. If the implicit interest rate is not known, the Group’s marginal borrowing rate is used for loans 
with similar risk. The lease liabilty is subsequently increased by the interest cost associated with the liabilityand is 
subsequently reduced by rental payments. Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less are not capitalised. Low-value 
leases, typically o%ce equipment / "xtures, are not capitalised. 

Some of the premises that the group leases are sub-leased. The sublease is assessed against the head lease, in order 
to assess whether the sublease agreement is to be treated as an operational or "nancial lease. When the sublease 
agreement is treated as a "nancial lease, a lease liability is recognized in the balance sheet, with a corrosponding 
receivable from the lessee, which is reduced in line with the remaining sublease agreement.

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

Interest expense on lease liabilities    1,8   2,3 

FDebt analysis - contractual undiscounted cash 'ows   

Less than 1 year    32,9   16,2 

1#5 years    86,4   19,7 

Over 5 years    38,5   3,2 

Total    157,9   39,1 

   

Non-current lease liabilities recognised   116,0   20,5 

Current lease liabilities recognised    22,0   14,6 

Total    138,1   35,1 

>>
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31.12.2020

2020 2019

31.12.2019

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

2019 2018

The Group subleases property. The Group has classi"ed the sublease as a "nance lease because the sublease 
corresponds to the remaining contract period for the underlying lease agreement.

NET INVETSTMENT IN THE LEASE 

AS A LESSOR

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Analysis - contractual undiscounted cash 'ows   

Less than 1 year    0,7   3,5 

1#2 years    1,6   - 

Total    2,3   3,5 

   

Non-current net investment in the lease recognised   1,4   - 

Current net investment in the lease recognised    0,6   3,4 

Total    2,0   3,4 

Trade creditors    116,3   74,5 

Accrued expenses    21,1   17,9 

Public duties and taxes    52,6   14,9 

Holiday-pay allowance    43,7   17,8 

Salary-liability    11,5   3,6 

Provisions    0,3   0,9 

Other current liabilities    3,1   4,7 

Total    248,6   134,4  

LEASE INTEREST INCOME RECOGNISED IN P&L

Interest income on the net investment in the lease   0,1   - 

NOTE 19    LEASES   *CONTINUED+

NOTE 20    TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

>>

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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Analysis - contractual undiscounted cash 'ows   

Less than 1 year    0,7   3,5 

1#2 years    1,6   - 

Total    2,3   3,5 

   

Non-current net investment in the lease recognised   1,4   - 

Current net investment in the lease recognised    0,6   3,4 

Total    2,0   3,4 

Trade creditors    116,3   74,5 

Accrued expenses    21,1   17,9 

Public duties and taxes    52,6   14,9 

Holiday-pay allowance    43,7   17,8 

Salary-liability    11,5   3,6 

Provisions    0,3   0,9 

Other current liabilities    3,1   4,7 

Total    248,6   134,4  

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

PROVISIONS

EXPECTED TIMING OF PAYMENT

Balance as at 1 January 2020   0,0   0,9   -   0,9 

Assumed in a business combination      - 

Provisions made during the year    0,3    0,3 

Provisions used during the year   (0,0)    (0,0)

Provisions reversed during the year    (0,9)   (0,9)

Balance as at 31 December 2020   -   0,3   -   0,3 

Current   -   0,3   -   0,3 

Total   -   0,3   -   0,3 

Total

Total

Other 
provisions

Other 
provisions

Warranties

Warranties

Onerous 
contracts

Onerous 
contracts

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event that 
can be estimated reliably and it is probable that the group will be required to se$le the obligation. If the e!ect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 'ows at a market based pre-tax rate that re'ects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the liability-speci"c risks. 

Warranty provision
A provision for warranty is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on 
historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected bene"ts to be derived by the group from a contract 
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations un- der the contract. 

Guarantee liabilities
Contractual guarantees of completion and guarantees in connection with advance payment from customers are 
furnished as part of Endúr’s activities. Such guarantees usually involve a bank connection that issues the guarantee in 
relation to the customer. In some cases, guarantees have also been furnished by other companies in the group.

NOTE 21    PROVISIONS

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Financial instruments are recognized in the balance sheet when the Group has become a party to the contractual terms 
of the instrument. Financial instruments
are derecognised when the contractual rights or obligations are met, canceled, expired or transferred.

Initial measurement of "nancial instruments is made at fair value at the time of se$lement, normally at transaction price. 
Subsequent measurement depends on the classi"cation of the "nancial asset or the "nancial liability.

Financial instruments are classi"ed as long-term when the expected realization date is more than twelve months a(er 
the balance sheet date. Other "nancial instruments are classi"ed as 

Financial assets

For initial recognition, a "nancial asset is classi"ed in the following categories:
- Amortized cost
- Fair value with change in value over pro"t & loss
- Fair value with change in value over other income and expenses (OCI).

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities are de"ned as:
- potential liabilities resulting from previous events, but whose existence depends on future events
- liabilities not recognised in the accounts because it is not likely that the liability will result in an ou&low of resources
- liabilities that cannot be measured with a satisfactory degree of reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, with the exception of contingent liabilities stemming from the acquisition of 
enterprises. Material contingent liabilities are speci"ed in the notes, except for contingent liabilities where the likelihood 
of existence is very low. A contingent asset is not recognised in the accounts, but will be speci"ed in the notes to the 
accounts if it is likely that the asset will devolve on the group.

LEGAL CLAIMS

Following the bankruptcy in ØPD AS, the landlord of an area where ØPD conducted business has made a claim to Endúr 
ASA to answer for ØPD’s obligations related to the lease, which expires in 2027. Endúr ASA assesses whether there is 
a guarantee liability to which the company is bound. Even if a claim is not accepted, a possible guarantee liability can 
amount to mnok 38.5. No provision is accounted for.   
 
Endúr ASA is in a legal dispute. The dispute concerns a guarantee obligation for the tenancy of the bankrupt subsidiary 
Endúr Energy Solutions AS. It is claimed that Endúr ASA is responsible for a guarantee liability of mnok 1.5. Endúr ASA’s 
main allegation is that the guarantee liability was not transferred in connection with the transaction related to Endur 
Energy Solutions AS. There is process risk associated with the case for Endúr ASA, but the company believes that Endúr 
ASA has a signi"cantly stronger case than the counterparty. No provision is accounted for.  
  

 

NOTE 23    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTE 22    CONTINGENT LIABILITIES / LEGAL CLAIMS
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FINANCIAL REPORTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s "nancial assets mainly consist of debt instruments (receivables) and cash. The receivables cash 'ows 
consist only of principal and any interest and all receivables are only held to receive contractual cash 'ows. Receivables 
and cash are included in the category amortized cost.

Financial liabilities
For initial recognition, a "nancial liability is classi"ed in the following categories:
- Amortized cost
- Fair value with change in value over pro"t

The Group’s "nancial liabilities consist of convertible loans, bank loans, vendor credit payables and other payment 
obligations. These "nancial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.

OVERVIEW OF CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Financial assets        

Trade and other receivables   15   131,2     76,9   -   - 

Cash and cash equivalents   16   167,8     20,9   -   - 

        

Financial liabilities        

Credit line   18     9,4    -   13,9 

Convertible loan   18     6,0     16,6 

Secured bank loans   18     224,8    -   14,1 

Shareholder loan   18     1,0     4,2 

Other loan   18     6,0     - 

Trade and other payables   20     248,6   -   -   133,5 

Total    299,0   -   495,8   97,8   -   182,3 

2020

NOTE

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost

Equity 
investments

at FVOCI

Equity 
investments

at FVOCI

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Other 
financial 
liabilities

2019

Fair value hierarchy
The group has not disclosed the fair values for "nancial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value since the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

NOTE 23    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)
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The group is exposed to the following "nancial risks resulting from the use of "nancial instruments: 
 
   • credit risk 
   • liquidity risk 
   • market risk. 
- 
This note provides information about exposure to each of the above-mentioned risks as well as goals, principles and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s capital management. More quantitative information is 
included elsewhere in the consolidated accounts. 
- 
The board of directors has overall responsibility for establishing and monitoring the group’s risk management framework. 
Risk management principles have been established in order to identify and analyse the risks to which the group is 
exposed, to stipulate limits on risk and pertaining control procedures, and to monitor risk and compliance with the limits. 
Risk management principles and systems are reviewed regularly to re'ect changes in activities and market conditions.  
 
CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk is the risk of "nancial losses in the event that a customer or counterparty in a "nancial instrument is unable 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk relates usually to the group’s receivables from customers. The group’s 
exposure to credit risk is mainly the result of individual factors relating to each individual customer. The demographics 
of the customer base, including the risk of default of payment in the industry and the country in which the customers 
operate, have less in'uence on the credit risk. There is no geographical concentration of credit risk. 
 
The group’s trade receivables are related to the segments Marine infrastructure, Maritime, Aquaculture and Energy. The 
customers are public customers within maritime and transport related infrasturcuture, aquaculture companies, shipping 
companies and other industrial companies of all sizes. 
 
The company has established guidelines for credit rating. This means that the creditworthiness of all new customers is 
assessed on an individual basis before the customer is o!ered the group’s standard terms and conditions for delivery and 
payment. 
 
The Group regards its maximum credit risk exposure to the carrying amount of trade debtors and other receivables.   
 
Historically, losses on trade debtors have been limited.   
   
LIQUIDITY RISK 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its "nancial obligations as they fall due.- The group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have su%cient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities under both normal and stressed conditions. See note 18 for more information on the group’s bank loans as of 
31.12.2020.  
  
Exposure to liquidity risk 
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of "nancial liabilities at the reporting date, including payment of 
interest and without the e!ect of se$lement arrangements:  
   
   
 
31 DECEMBER 2020

Convertible loans  18, 22  6,0   6,3   6,3   -   -   -   - 

Secured bank loan  18, 22  224,8   228,3   64,3   23,1   45,1   95,7   - 

Lease liabilities  18, 19  138,1   157,9   16,9   16,0   24,5   61,9   38,5 

Other loans  18, 22  6,0   7,8   0,3   0,3   0,6   6,6   - 

Shareholder loan  18, 22  1,0   1,0   1,0   -   -   -   - 

Trade and other payables  20, 22  248,6   248,6   248,6   -   -   -   - 

Total     624,5   649,9   337,5   39,4   70,2   164,2   38,5 

NOTE
Carrying 
amount 6#12 mth.Total

1 - 2 
years

6 months
 or less

2 - 5
years

More 
than 

5 years

Contractual cash flows

NOTE 24    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(NOKm)
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MARKET RISK 

Currency risk
Endúr operates mainly in a domestic market. Hence, the company is only to a limited extent directly exposed to its 
own operations abroad. Macro economically conditions, of which are signi"cant for the group, is mainly related to 
developments in oil and gas prices, including development and maintenance activities o!shore.

Interest rate risk
The company does not normally hedge against changes in the interest rate. 

Sensitivity analysis
A change in the interest rate of 100 base points on the reporting date would have increased (reduced) equity and  yearly 
pro"t by the  amounts shown in the table below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, particularly the exchange 
rates, remain unchanged. 

On March 3, 2021, Endúr ASA issued a secured bond loan of NOK 1,100 million maturing in 2025.
The net proceeds from the bond were used, among other things, to re"nance existing debt. This means that all bank 
loans, convertible loans, shareholder loans, other loans and credit lines were se$led in March 2021.

Convertible loans  18, 22  6,0   6,3   6,3   -   -   -   - 

Secured bank loan  18, 22  224,8   228,3   64,3   23,1   45,1   95,7   - 

Lease liabilities  18, 19  138,1   157,9   16,9   16,0   24,5   61,9   38,5 

Other loans  18, 22  6,0   7,8   0,3   0,3   0,6   6,6   - 

Shareholder loan  18, 22  1,0   1,0   1,0   -   -   -   - 

Trade and other payables  20, 22  248,6   248,6   248,6   -   -   -   - 

Total     624,5   649,9   337,5   39,4   70,2   164,2   38,5 

31 DECEMBER 2020

Convertible loans  18, 22  16,6   16,9   16,9   -   -   -   - 

Secured bank loan  18, 22  14,1   16,1   0,7   0,6   1,3   13,5   - 

Lease liabilities  18, 19  35,1   50,0   8,1   8,1   8,0   20,0   5,8 

Credit - purchase of shares  18, 22  4,2   4,3   4,3   -   -   -   - 

Trade and other payables  20, 22  133,5   133,5   133,5   -   -   -   - 

Total     203,5   220,8   163,4   8,7   9,3   33,5   5,8 

NOTE
Carrying 
amount 6#12 mth.Total

1 - 2 
years

6 months
 or less

2 - 5
years

More 
than 

5 years

Kontraktsmessige - kontantstrømmer

NOTE 24    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

2020
100 bp

 decrease
100 bp

 decrease
100 bp 

increase
100 bp 

increase

Profit/loss Equity

Interest-bearing loans    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

(NOKm)

>>
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2019

Interest-bearing loans    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The board of directors’ goal is to maintain a strong capital base in order to preserve the con"dence of investors, creditors 
and market, and to develop business activities. The return on capital is monitored by the board. Return on capital is 
de"ned as the operating pro"t/ loss divided by the total equity. The board also monitors the level of dividends on 
ordinary shares. The group has no de"ned plan for the purchase of own shares.

As part of the transaction regarding the aquisition of BMO Entreprenør AS, Endúr issued 12,5 million options to the sellers 
of BMO Entreprenør AS. See note 3 for further information regarding the transaction.
  
Measurement of fair value 
The model used for measurement of the fair values is Black-Scholes. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair 
values at grant date of the options were as follows.  
  

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Company’s share price.

SHARE OPTION PROGRAM

Options issued 6,25 million 6,25 million

Award date 17 Dec 2020 17 Dec 2020

Maturity 30 June 2022 30 June 2023

Fair value at grant date NOK 0,26 NOK 0,36

Share price at grant date 1,165 1,165

Strike price 1,2 1,2

Risk free interest rate 0,54 % 0,67 %

Expected volatility 47 % 47 %

31.12.202031.12.2020Input

NOTE 25    SHARE OPTION PROGRAM

NOTE 24    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  *CONTINUED+

100 bp
 decrease

100 bp
 decrease

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
increase

Profit/loss Equity
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Antall opsjoner

Interest-bearing loans    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)    (0,4)  0,4   (0,4)  0,4 

Reconciliation of outstanding share options

NOTE 25    SHARE OPTION PROGRAM *CONTINUED+

Outstanding options at 1 january  644 444   1 355 555 

Forfeited during the year  (644 444)  (711 111)

Granted during the year  12 500 000   -   

Exercised during the year  -     -   

Outstanding options at 31 december  12 500 000   644 444 

20192020Number of share options

Endúr Invest AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   999,9  100 %  (0,7)  46,0 

Endúr Maritime AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   12,4  100 %  (5,2)  66,9 

Endúr Bidco AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   0,1  100 %  (4,3)  45,7 

BMO Entreprenør AS  Endúr Bidco AS  3619 Skollenborg   0,6  100 %  34,1   96,4 

Installit AS  Endúr ASA  0275 Oslo   0,9  100 %  (4,5)  37,4 

Workpool AS  Installit AS  0275 Oslo   0,5  100 %  0,3   0,7 

O!shore Power Group AS  Installit AS  0275 Oslo   0,1  100 %  0,7   0,9 

Installit O!shore Personell AS  Installit AS  0275 Oslo   0,1  100 %  (0,0)  0,2 

ØPD AS  Endúr ASA  3962 Stathelle   0,9  100 %  (61,7)  (112,9)

Endúr AAK AS  Endúr Invest AS  5160 Laksevåg   13,7  100 %  (3,5)  (7,9)

Endúr Sjøsterk AS  Endúr Invest AS  5160 Laksevåg   0,4  100 %  (2,1)  6,1 

Endúr Eiendom AS  Endúr Invest AS  5160 Laksevåg   0,1  100 %  0,7   13,5 

Endúr Industrier AS  Endúr ASA  4033 Stavanger   9,2  100 %  (20,6)  (7,8)

Owner Registered o%ce

Company`s 

share capital
Holding 

and votes

Pro"t/loss 
for the year 

(preliminary)

Equity as at 
31.12.2020 

(preliminary)GROUP COMPANY

NOTE 26    GROUP COMPANIES

(NOKm)
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The variable pay program for the CEO is a program based on the following: 
-  Annual pro"t before tax. If the annual pro"t before tax exceeds 5% of the year’s turnover, variable pay is triggered. The maximum   
 payment associated with this is 100 per cent of the annual base salary. 
-  Annual developments in Endúr ASA’s share price. If the share price exceeds given threshold values   connected to a percentage   
 increase in the share price, variable pay is triggered. The maximum payment associated with this is 100 per cent of the annual base   
 salary. 
-  Sale of business, sale of shares, merger/demerger. The maximum payment associated with this is 100 per cent of the annual base   
 salary. 
 
According to the agreement, 50% of variable salary will be se$led in shares. 
 
The variable pay program for the COO is a program based on the following: 
-  Annual pro"t before tax. If the annual pro"t before tax exceeds 5% of the year’s turnover, variable pay is triggered. The maximum   
 payment associated with this is 58,33 per cent of the annual base salary. 
-  Annual developments in Endúr ASA’s share price. If the share price exceeds given threshold values   connected to a percentage   
 increase in the share price, variable pay is triggered. The maximum payment associated with this is 58,33 per cent of the annual base  
 salary. 
-  Sale of business, sale of shares, merger/demerger. The maximum payment associated with this is 58,33 per cent of the annual base   
 salary. 
According to the agreement, 50% of variable salary will be se$led in shares.   
    
   
The Board of directors have approved the Company’s guidelines for salaries to senior executives. This can be summarized as follows: 
The main principles for Endúr ASA’s executive remuneration policy is that senior executives will be o!ered terms that are competitive, 
when salaries, fringe bene"ts, bonus and pension scheme are considered in total. Cash compensation could be given as compensation 
in addition to base salary for senior management, but then limited to a certain percentage of base salary and linked to the achievement 
of speci"c targets. Guidelines for awarding bonuses is to be determined by the board.  
    
 

On January 6, 2021, Endur implemented changes in the group management. Hans Olav Storkås was appointed as CEO of Endúr ASA, 
and Lasse B. Kjelsås was appointed as the new CFO. As a result of the change, the variable salary program for previous management 
was terminated, and severence pay was agreed.

REMUNERATION AND TERMINATION AGREEMENTS TO MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM IN 2020

Base 
salary

Variable 
pay

Other 
benefits

Pension
 benefit

Slutt-
vederlag

Notice 
period

Severance 
payTotal

NOK000

Hans Pe$er Eikeland - CEO   1 824   84   13   94   2 015   3 months   18 months 

“Nils Ingemund Ho! 

COO until july 2020, CFO from july 2020”  1 931   82   13   94   2 120   3 months   18 months 

Morten Riiser - CFO until july 2020   710   299   8   40   1 057   

Total   4 465   465   34   228   5 192    

 

NOTE 27    MANAGEMENT REMURATION
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Remuneration to the election and remuneration committee for the period from ordinary 
meeting 2019 until ordinary general meeting 2020  
  
  

AUDIT FEES

Position

Position

Remuneration

Remuneration

20192020

Name

Name

Hans Pe$er Eikeland - CEO   1 824   84   13   94   2 015   3 months   18 months 

“Nils Ingemund Ho! 

COO until july 2020, CFO from july 2020”  1 931   82   13   94   2 120   3 months   18 months 

Morten Riiser - CFO until july 2020   710   299   8   40   1 057   

Total   4 465   465   34   228   5 192    

 

Rune Skarveland  Former chairman of the Board   300 

Bente Stangeland  Former member of the Board and former  member of the Audit Commi$ee 200 

Tove Ormevik  Member of the Board   150 

Jorunn Helvik Ingebrigtsen  Member of the Board and Audit Commi$ee    200 

Kristo!er Nesse Hope  Member of the Board   150 

Trond Skarveland  Former member of the Board   150 

Ragny Bergesen  Former member of the Board   150  

Henning Nordgulen  Member    20 

Arne Henning Markhus  Member    20 

Espen Ommedal  Leader    20 

Audit services   1,4   1,2 

Other a$estation services   0,7   0,1 

Tax advisory services   -   0,1 

Other non-audit services   0,2   0,2 

Total   2,4   1,5 

NOTE 27    MANAGEMENT REMURATION  *CONTINUED+

NOTE 28    AUDIT FEES

Remuneration to the board of directors for the period from ordinary meeting 2019 until ordinary 
general meeting 2020   
  

NOKm  (All amounts excluding VAT)

Other remuneration to the board of directors    
The current chairman of the board of Endúr ASA, Øivind Horpestad, has from july 2020 been engaged as a consultant 
by Endúr ASA through the company Gimle Invest AS. The company is 100% owned by Øivind Horpestad and is a 
shareholder in Endúr ASA.

The consulting work was related to assistance in connection with the restructuring of Endúr, recruitment of new 
management, M&A processes and "nancing.

The fee for the work was nok 1 million.
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Related party relationships are those involving control (either direct or indirect), joint control or signi"cant in'uence. 
Related parties are in a position to enter into transactions with the company, of which would not be undertaken between 
unrelated parties.

No material transactions with related parties have taken place during 2020, with the exception of an agreement related 
to consulting work from the Chairman of the Board. See note 27 for further information.

On 12 March 2021, Endúr ASA, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Endùr BidCo AS, bought all the shares in Artec 
Aqua AS for a purchase price of approx. NOK 702.5 million, of which 50% of the purchase price was se$led by issuing 
296,128,789 consideration shares in Endúr ASA, and 50% in cash consideration.

On the same day, the board decided, pursuant to a board authorization granted by the EGM on 10 March 2021, to issue 
the consideration shares. The company’s share capital increased by NOK 2,961,287.89 by issuing 296,128,789 new 
shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. The capital increase was registered on 15 March 2021.

Artec Aqua was established in 2002 and is today a leading turnkey supplier of process facilities and solutions to the 
onshore aquaculture industry. It is the undisputed market leader for onshore broodstock facilities, and customers include 
the global leading salmon farming companies. Artec Aqua is renowned for its superior water treatment solutions design, 
which secures "sh welfare and sustainable development of the aquaculture industry. The company has the capability 
to deliver all available water system solutions for onshore aquaculture, including 'ow-through, regeneration and 
recirculation aquaculture systems (RAS). Artec Aqua has developed a new RAS system that has demonstrated favourable 
water quality and recorded stress levels among the lowest measured in onshore "sh farming. 

Estimate - financial effect - P&L  
The table below shows the estimated pro forma P&L for 2020 for Endúr ASA as if the business combination had been 
completed on 1 January 2020.  
 

The initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete at the time these "nancial statements are authorised 
for issue. Disclosures containing information about the identi"able assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are  herefore 
not presented.

BUSINESS COMBINATION , ARTEC AQUA

2020 
presented

Proforma 
adjustment

2020
proforma

Operating revenue    405,0   636,5   1 041,4 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  63,1   39,1 

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  60,3   (456,6)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  60,0   (471,7)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  46,7   (479,2)

NOTE 29    RELATED PARTIES

NOTE 30    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(NOKm)
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On 5 March 2021, Endúr ASA, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Endùr BidCo AS, bought 35% of the shares in 
Marcon-Gruppen i Sverige AB for a purchase price of approx. SEK 140 million. The purchase price was se$led by issuing 
106,230,838 consideration shares in Endúr ASA.

On the same day, the board decided, pursuant to a board authorization granted by the EGM on 4 December 2020, to 
issue the consideration shares. The company’s share capital increased by NOK 1,062,308.38 by issuing 106,230,838 
new shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. The capital increase was registered on March 8, 2021.

On 12 March 2021, Endúr ASA, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Endùr BidCo AS, bought the remaining 65% of the 
shares in Marcon-Gruppen i Sverige AB for a purchase price of approx. SEK 260 million. The purchase price was se$led 
in cash consideration.

Marcon was established by Jörn Ryberg in 1982 and has since grown to become a market leader within marine 
infrastructure in Sweden. The company performs a range of services connected to marine infrastructure construction and 
marine services, as well as other adjacent services including hydrographical services, dredging, rentals, inspections and 
diving. Marcon serves both as independent contractor and subcontractor in construction projects and other services. Its 
HQ is in Ängelholm with o%ces in Stockholm, Malmö, Gothenburg, Sölvesborg and Härnösand. The group operates in 
the Swedish market under the brands Swedish Sjöentrepenad (SSE), Marcon Teknik (MTE), Frog Marine Service (FMS), 
SVENTAB and Marcon Windpower. 

Estimate - financial effect - P&L  
The table below shows the estimated pro forma P&L for 2020 for Endúr ASA as if the business combination had been 
completed on 1 January 2020.  
 

The initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete at the time these "nancial statements are authorised 
for issue. Disclosures containing information about the identi"able assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are  herefore 
not presented.

BUSINESS COMBINATION , MARCON

2020 
presented

Proforma 
adjustment

2020
proforma

Operating revenue    405,0   636,5   1 041,4 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  63,1   39,1 

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  60,3   (456,6)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  60,0   (471,7)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  46,7   (479,2)

Operating revenue    405,0   437,5   842,5 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  90,1   66,1 

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  42,4   (474,5)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  35,3   (496,5)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  22,9   (503,1)

NOTE 30    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)
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March 3 2021, Endúr ASA issued a NOK 1,100 million senior secured bond with maturity in 2025. 

The net proceeds from the bond issue was used to fully "nance the cash consideration related to the acquisitions of 
Artec Aqua AS and Marcon-Gruppen Sverige AB, re"nance existing debt and fund general corporate purposes.

The Board of Directors of the subsidiary ØPD AS decided on 5 February 2021 to "le for bankruptcy in the company. The 
company had for some time experienced a strained liquidity situation, and the Board considered that there was no longer 
any basis for continued operations.  
 
Estimate - financial effect - P&L  
The table below shows the pro forma P&L for 2020 for Endúr ASA. The Proforma-P&L does not include the company ØPD 
AS.

Estimate - financial effect - Statement of financial position  
The table below shows the estimated pro forma balance sheet for Endúr ASA exclusive the company ØPD AS.  
   
 

PLACEMENT OF SENIOR SECURED BOND

BANKRUPTCY IN SUBSIDIARY , ØPD AS 

Operating revenue    405,0   (44,6)  360,3 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  5,6   (18,5)

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  438,5   (78,4)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  439,0   (92,7)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  439,0   (86,9)

Non-current assets    619,4   (44,9)  574,4 

Current assets    360,0   (52,6)  307,4 

Total assets    979,4   (97,5)  881,9 

Equity    319,6   40,6   360,2 

Non-current liabilities    273,1   (48,4)  224,7 

Current liabilities     386,7   (89,7)  297,0 

Total equity and liabilities    979,4   (97,5)  882,9 

NOTE 30    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

31.12.2020 
presented

Proforma 
adjustment

31.12.2020 
proforma

2020 
presented

Proforma 
adjustment

2020
proforma
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The Board of Directors of Endúr ASA has had a strong focus on strategic, operational and structural measures that can 
contribute to a future-oriented Group focusing on pro"tability and future growth. The acquisition of BMO Entreprenør in 
2020 and the following acquisitions of Artec Aqua and Marcon in 2021 are good example of this. 

Following the bankruptcy in Endúr Indutrier AS and ØPD AS in 2021, the Group’s remaining operations are considered to 
represent a solid pla&orm for pro"table and sustainable operations in 2021 onwards. 

The Board of Endúr ASA con"rms, according to § 3#3 of the Accounting Act, that the annual accounts have been prepared 
based on the assumption for continued operations. 

NOTE 31    GOING CONCERN

Estimate - financial effect - Statement of financial position  
The table below shows the estimated pro forma balance sheet for Endúr ASA exclusive the company Endúr Industrier AS. 
   
  

Operating revenue    405,0   (44,6)  360,3 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  5,6   (18,5)

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  438,5   (78,4)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  439,0   (92,7)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  439,0   (86,9)

Operating revenue    405,0   (26,5)  378,5 

Operating pro"t/loss before depr., impairm. (EBITDA)   (24,1)  4,6   (19,5)

Operating pro"t/loss (EBIT)    (516,9)  8,0   (508,9)

Pro"t/loss before tax    (531,8)  8,3   (523,4)

Pro"t/loss     (525,9)  8,4   (517,6)

Non-current assets    619,4   (44,9)  574,4 

Current assets    360,0   (52,6)  307,4 

Total assets    979,4   (97,5)  881,9 

Equity    319,6   40,6   360,2 

Non-current liabilities    273,1   (48,4)  224,7 

Current liabilities     386,7   (89,7)  297,0 

Total equity and liabilities    979,4   (97,5)  882,9 

Non-current assets    619,4   (1,8)  617,5 

Current assets    360,0   (5,9)  354,1 

Total assets    979,4   (7,8)  971,6 

Equity    319,6   8,0   327,6 

Non-current liabilities    273,1   -   273,1 

Current liabilities     386,7   (15,8)  370,9 

Total equity and liabilities    979,4   (7,8)  972,6 

NOTE 30    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  *CONTINUED+

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

2020 
presented

31.12.2020 
presented

Proforma 
adjustment

Proforma 
adjustment

2020
proforma

31.12.2020 
proforma

The Board of Directors of the subsidiary Endúr Industrier AS decided on 15 January 2021 to "le for bankruptcy in the 
company. The company had for some time experienced a strained liquidity situation, and the Board considered that there 
was no longer any basis for continued operations.

Estimate - financial effect - P&L  
The table below shows the pro forma P&L for 2020 for Endúr ASA. The Proforma-P&L does not include the company 
Endúr Industrier AS.

BANKRUPTCY IN SUBSIDIARY , ENDÚR INDUSTRIER AS  
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Other operating revenue 3  16,5   5,0 

Operating revenue   16,5   5,0 

   

Payroll expenses 4  (11,4)  (8,4)

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 7  (0,5)  (0,3)

Other operating expenses 4  (18,4)  (7,2)

Operating expenses   (30,3)  (15,8)

   

Operating profit/loss   (13,8)  (10,8)

   

Financial income 5  1,0   0,0 

Financial expenses 5  (451,8)  (3,6)

Net financial items   (450,8)  (3,6)

   

Pro"t/Loss before tax   (464,6)  (14,4)

Tax 6  3,3   4,3 

Profit/Loss   (461,4)  (10,0)

INCOME STATEMENT - PARENT COMPANY NOTE 2020 2019

(NOKm)



Assets   
Deferred tax assets 6  5,8   14,4 
Intangible assets 7  0,1   0,6 
Investments in group companies 8  236,2   203,8 
Receivables from group companies 11  164,9   - 
Total non-current assets   407,0   218,8 

   
Other receivables   13,6   0,7 
Receivables from group companies 11  56,2   3,0 
Cash and cash equivalents   17,0   4,0 
Total current assets   86,8   7,7 

   

Total assets   493,8   226,6 

   
Equity and liabilities   

Equity   
Share capital 9, 10  7,3   2,1 
Share premium 10  375,1   123,3 
Other paid-in equity 10  4,0   0,3 
Retained earnings 10  -   (5,1)
Equity 10  386,4   120,6 

   
Liabilities   
Liabilities to group companies 11  47,0   78,0 
Convertible loan 12  7,0   16,6 
Other interest bearing debt 12  6,0   - 
Other non-current liabilities   3,6   3,5 
Total non-current liabilities   63,5   98,2 

   
Trade payables 12  8,6   2,5 
Liabilities to group companies 11  25,8  
Other short term liabilities   9,4   5,2 
Total current liabilities    43,8   7,8 

   

Total liabilities   107,4   106,0 

   

Total equity and liabilities   493,8   226,6 

BALANCE SHEET - PARENT COMPANY NOTE 31.12.2020 31.12.2019      
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Bergen 29 april 2021

Øivind Omar Horpestad
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)

-sign

Bjørn Finnøy
-sign

Hedvig Bugge Reiersen
-sign

Terje Nesbakke
-sign

Tove Ormevik
-sign

Kristoffer Nesse Hope
-sign

Jorunn Helvik Ingebrigtsen
-sign

Hans Olav Storkås
CEO

-sign
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT - PARENT COMPANY      NOTE 2020 2019

Cash flow from operational activities   
Pro"t/Loss   (461,4)  (10,0)
Profit/Loss   (461,4)  (10,0)
   
Adjustments for:   
Income tax expense 6  (3,3)  (4,3)
Share option expense   -   0,3 
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 7  0,5   0,3 
Impairment investments in subsidiaries   355,4   - 
Impairment group receivables   88,6   - 
   
Changes in:   
Trade payables   4,2   (0,8)
Other current accruals   (8,7)  2,0 
Net cash from operating activities   (24,7)  (12,7)

   
   
Cash flow from investments activities   
Acquisition of shares   (0,4)  - 
Net ou&low from non-current receivables   (40,5) 
Acquisition of other investments 7  (50,0)  (0,8)
Net cash from investments activities   (90,8)  (0,8)

   
   
Cash flow from financing activities   
Repayment of loans and borrowings   9,0   (0,4)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings   (7,6) 
Proceeds from private placement   214,0   0,5 
Net changes demerger   -   (3,5)
Net changes in intercompany balances   (87,0)  13,4 
Net cash from financing activities   128,5   9,9 
   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   13,0   (3,6)
Cash and cash equivalents as per 1.1   4,0   7,6 
Cash and cash equivalents as per 31.12   17,0   4,0 
Of which is restricted cash as per 31.12   4,2   3,9 

(NOKm)
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Endúr ASA is a public limited company based in Norway, and was founded on 22 May 2007. The Company’s registered 
o%ce is at Laksevåg in Bergen. Endúr ASA is the parent company in the Endúr Group. Endúr ASA is listed on Oslo Stock 
Exchange with the ticker ENDUR.

NOTE 1     COMPANY INFORMATION

The "nancial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and Norwegian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (NGAAP) valid as per 31 December 2020, and consist of income statement, balance sheet, cash 
'ow statement and notes. The "nancial statements have been prepared based on the fundamental principles governing 
historical cost accounting, comparability, continued operations, congruence and prudence. Transactions are recorded 
at their value at the time of the transaction. Income is recognised at the time of delivery of goods or services. Costs 
are expensed in the same period as the income to which they relate. Costs that cannot be directly related to income 
are expensed as incurred. The di!erent accounting principles are further commented on below. According to generally 
accepted accounting standards, there may be some exceptions to the basic assessment and valuation principles. 
Comments on these exceptions can be found in the respective notes to the accounts.  Contingent losses, of which are 
probable and quanti"able are charged to the pro"t and loss account. 
    
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS     
Preparing the annual accounts includes judgements, estimates and assumptions that in'uence both the choice of 
accounting principles applied and the reported amounts for assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The management 
has used estimates based on its best judgement and assumptions that are considered realistic on the basis of historical 
experience during preparation of the annual accounts. Actual amounts may deviate from estimated amounts. Estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed and assessed on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are changed and in all future periods a!ected.    
 
     
CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES     
Assets are classi"ed as current assets when: 
-  the asset is part of the entity’s service cycle and is expected to be realised or consumed during the entity’s normal   
 production period; 
-  the asset is held for trading; 
-  the asset is expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date; 
-  the asset is cash or cash equivalents, but with an exception for when there are restrictions on exchanging or using it to  
 se$le debt within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 
 
All other assets are classi"ed as non-current assets. 
 
Liabilities are classi"ed as current liabilities when: 
-  the liability is part of the service cycle and is expected to be se$led during the normal production period; 
-  the liability is held for trading; 
-  se$lement within 12 months of the balance sheet date has been agreed; 
-  the entity has no unconditional right to postpone se$lement of the liability to minimum 12 months a(er the balance  
 sheet date. 
 
All other liabilities are classi"ed as non-current liabilities.     

NOTE 2     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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FOREIGN CURRENCY     
Items included in the "nancial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The company’s functional currency is NOK, of which is also the 
parent company’s presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items are measured at the rate of exchange 
at the balance sheet date.     
     
CASH FLOW STATEMENT     
The cash 'ow statement is presented using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits 
and other short term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.    
 
REVENUE     
Revenue from services is reported in the pro"t and loss account in accordance with the degree of completion of the 
transaction on the balance sheet date. The degree of completion is calculated on the basis of work completed. 
     
SUBSIDIARIES     
In the parent company, subsidiaries are valued using the cost method. The investment is valued at acquisition cost, 
unless a write-down is required. Dividends, group contributions and other distributions are recognised in the same year 
as they are distributed in the subsidiary’s "nancial statements. If the dividend/group contribution received exceed the 
retained pro"t share in the ownership period, the excess amount is recognised as a repayment of invested capital and 
entered in the balance sheet as a reduction of the investment.     
     
IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS     
If indications are identi"ed that the carrying value of a non-current assets is higher than fair value, an impairment test is 
performed. The test is performed for the lowest level of an assets with independent cash 'ows. If carrying value is higher 
than recoverable amount, a write down to recoverable amount will be recognised. Write downs recognised in previous 
years will be reversed 
if the conditions leading to the write down is no longer present. Impairment of goodwill will never be reversed.  
      
INCOME TAX     
The tax consists of tax payable and the change in deferred tax. Deferred tax/ tax asset is calculated on the basis of all 
taxable temporary di!erences. A deferred tax asset is recognised in the pro"t and loss account when it is probable 
that the company will have su%cient taxable income to utilise the tax asset. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are 
recognised regardless of when the di!erences are reversed, and are in principle recognised at nominal value. Deferred 
tax/ tax asset is valued on the basis of the expected future tax rate. Both tax payable and deferred tax are recognised 
directly against equity to the extent to which they relate to items recognised directly against equity.  
     
RECEIVABLES     
Accounts receivable and other receivables are recognised in the balance sheet at nominal value less provisions for 
expected losses. Provisions for losses are made on the basis of individual assessments of the individual receivables. In 
addition, for other accounts receivable, an unspeci"ed provision is made to cover expected losses on claims.  
       
LOANS     
All loans are recognised at cost price. That means that they are recognised at the current rate of value of amounts 
received. Costs relating to raising new loans are expensed over the term of the loan.     
    
EQUITY     
Transaction costs relating to equity transactions, including the tax e!ect of the transaction costs, are recognised directly 
against the equity. Only transaction costs directly related to the equity transactions are recognised against equity. 
On the repurchase of own shares, the purchase price, including directly a$ributable costs such as changes in equity, is 
entered as a change in equity. Own shares are presented as a reduction of equity. Losses or gains from transactions with 
own shares are not recognised in the pro"t and loss account.     

NOTE 2     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  *CONTINUED+
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On 16 October 2020, Endúr acquired 100% of the shares in Oceano AS through a merger. Oceano AS was established as 
a group in 2020, following a merger between ØPD AS and Installit AS.

CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED      
       
The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration transferred.   
    

Equity instruments issued      
The fair value of the ordinary shares issued was based on the listed share price of the Endúr ASA at 16 October 2020 at 
NOK 1,64 per share.       
       
Subsequent adjustment of the transaction price       
Following the Merger with Oceano, the Company entered into an agreement with the former main shareholders 
of Oceano, whereby such former shareholders shall compensate the Company by transfer of NOK 13 million. The 
compensation is treated as a subsequent adjustment of the transaction price and included in pro"t and loss, classi"ed as 
other revenue.       

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED      
The fair value of identi"able assets and liabilities is based on a purchase price allocation. The following table summarises 
the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.    
  

NOTE 3    BUSINESS COMBINATION

Shares in Endúr ASA (215 021 018 shares)    352,1 

Total consideration transferred    352,1  

Investments in group companies    354,0 

Trade payables    (1,9)

Total identifiable net assets acquired    352,1  

(NOKm)

(NOKm)



Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 67

ENDÚR ASA , NOTES PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 4    SALARIES, FEES, REMUNERATIONS

For an overview of compensation to the executive management group please see note 27 in the group notes.  
        
The company is required to have a pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian law on required occupational 
pension schemes (“lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”). The company’s pension arrangements ful"l the law 
requirements.        
      
See note 25 in the group "nancial statements for information regarding share options.     
      

PAYROLL EXPENSES

REMURATION TO THE AUDITOR

Salaries and holiday pay   8,2   5,4 

Employer`s national insurance contribution   1,4   1,0 

Share-based payment   -   0,3 

Pension expenses   0,4   0,3 

Other payroll expenses   1,4   1,3 

Total   11,4   8,4 

   

Number of employees 31.12  5 4 

Audit services   1,0   0,7 

Other a$estation services   0,6   0,0 

Tax advisory services   -   0,1 

Other non-audit services   0,2   0,1 

Total   1,9   0,9 

2018

2018

2019

2019

(NOKm)

(NOKm) 2020

2020

2019

2019
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NOTE 5    NET FINANCIAL ITEMS

NOTE 6    TAXES 

2019

2019

2019

2020

2020

2020

Other interest income   1,0   - 

Other "nancial income   -   0,0 

Gain on sale of shares   -   - 

Financial income   1,0   0,0 

   

Interest expenses to group companies   (1,7)  (2,4)

Other interest expenses   (2,7)  (1,1)

Impairment investments in subsidiaries   (355,4)  - 

Impairment group receivables   (88,0)  - 

Other "nancial expenses   (4,0)  - 

Financial expenses   (451,8)  (3,6)

   

Net financial items   (450,8)  (3,6)

Result before taxes   (464,6)  (14,4)

Permanent di!erences   453,5   0,6 

Group contribution   53,9   - 

Changes in temporary di!erences   0,1   0,1 

Change in losses carried forward   (42,9)  13,7 

Basis for taxes payable   -   - 

Taxes payable   -   - 

Taxes payable   -   - 

Taxes payable on group contribution   11,9   - 

Net change in deferred tax/ tax asset   (8,6)  4,3 

Tax expense for the year   3,3   4,3  

THE TAX EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR IS CALCULATED AS FOLLOWS

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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NOTE 6    TAXES  *CONTINUED+

NOTE 7    INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Temporary di!erences   (10,9)   (0,1)  (11,0)

Interest deductibility carried forward   (38,9)    (38,9)

Loss carried forward   (58,4)   42,9   (15,4)

Total basis related to deferred tax assets   (108,2)  -   42,8   (65,3)

Net deferred tax assets   (23,8)  -   9,4   (14,4)

      

Net deferred tax assets - not recognised in the accounts   (9,4)  -   0,8   (8,6)

Net deferred tax assets - recognised in the accounts   (14,4)   8,6   (5,8)

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2019    -   - 
Acquisitions 2019    0,9   0,9 
Acquisitions through business combinations    -   - 
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2019    0,9   0,9 
Accumulated depreciations as of 1 Jan. 2019    -   - 
Current year’s depreciations    (0,3)  (0,3)
Acc. Amort. and imp. losses 31 Dec. 2019    (0,3)  (0,3)

    

Book value 31. Dec. 2019    0,6   0,6 

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2020    0,9   0,9 
Acquisitions 2020    -   - 
Acquisitions through business combinations    -   - 
Acc. acquisition cost 31 Dec. 2020    0,9   0,9 

Accumulated depreciations as of 1 Jan. 2020    (0,3)  (0,3)
Current year’s depreciations    (0,5)  (0,5)
Acc. Amort. and imp. losses 31 Dec. 2020    (0,9)  (0,9)

    

Book value 31. Dec. 2020    (0,0)  (0,0)

    
Amortisation rates   33 % 
Amortisation plan   Linear  

31.12.2019 31.12.2020

Total

Recognised 
in the income 

statement

Licences, 
patents etc.

Acquired in 
business 

combinations

RECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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NOTE 8    INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Endúr Invest AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   999,9  100 %  (0,7)  46,0   82,5 

Endúr Maritime AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   12,4  100 %  (5,2)  66,9   82,6 

Endúr Bidco AS  Endúr ASA  5160 Laksevåg   0,1  100 %  (4,3)  45,7   33,3 

Installit AS  Endúr ASA  0275 Oslo   0,9  100 %  (4,5)  37,4   37,8 

ØPD AS  Endúr ASA  3962 Stathelle   0,9  100 %  (61,7)  (112,9)  - 

Endúr Industrier AS  Endúr ASA  4033 Stavanger   9,2  100 %  (20,6)  (7,8)  - 

Total          236,2 

Owner Registered o%ce

Company`s 
share capital

Holding
 and votes

Pro"t/loss 
for the year 

(preliminary)

Equity as of 
31 Dec. 2020
 (preliminary)

Book value 
31.12.20GROUP COMPANY

Share capital        
Private Placement registrered 8 July 2020 -Tthe company’s share capital increased by NOK 666,666.67, from NOK 
2,130,910.18 to NOK 2,797,576.85, by issuing 66,666,667 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 13 July 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 33,333.33 from NOK 
2,797,576.85 to NOK 2,830,910.17, by issuing 3,333,332 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Business combination registrered 16 october 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 2,150,210.18, from 
NOK 2,830,910.17 to NOK 4,981,120.35 by issuing 215,021,018 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Private Placement registrered 18 November 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 1,041,671.59, from 
NOK 4,981,120.35 to NOK 6,022,791.94, by issuing 104,167,159 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Business combination registrered 18 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 1,074,708.70, 
from NOK 6,022,791.94 to NOK 7,097,500.64 by issuing 107,470,870 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 18 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 208,333.33 from 
NOK 7,097,500.64 to NOK 7,305,833.96, by issuing 20,833,332 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
Debt conversion registrered 21 December 2020 - The company’s share capital increased by NOK 20,841.40 from 
NOK 7,305,833.96 to NOK 7,326,675.36, by issuing 2,084,140 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. 
 
At 31 December 2020, the share capital of Endúr ASA was NOK 7 326 675.36 , divided into 732 667 536 shares, each with 
a nominal value of NOK 0.01. All shares have equal voting rights.       
 

NOTE 9    SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

(NOKm)
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NOTE 9    SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION  *CONTINUED+

       NO OF SHARES HOLDING

SHAREHOLDERS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020  

BEVER HOLDING AS      84 027 899  11,47 %
MIDDELBORG INVEST AS      82 000 708  11,19 %
HANDELAND INDUSTRI AS      61 325 000  8,37 %
SONGA CAPITAL AS      45 900 098  6,26 %
TIGERSTADEN MARINE AS      44 108 830  6,02 %
BRIAN CHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED      30 251 443  4,13 %
AS FLYFISK      23 064 606  3,15 %
LANGÅKER      16 429 161  2,24 %
TATOMI INVEST AS      15 775 000  2,15 %
TIGHT HOLDING AS      14 843 470  2,03 %
GIMLE INVEST AS      12 206 513  1,67 %
ENERGON HOLDING AS      11 900 000  1,62 %
BR INDUSTRIER AS      10 591 666  1,45 %
SPAREBANK 1 MARKETS AS      9 800 000  1,34 %
TIGERSTADEN AS      9 735 712  1,33 %
EIKELAND HOLDING AS      9 156 356  1,25 %
TRIONOR AS      8 758 351  1,20 %
SONGA INVESTMENTS AS      6 944 444  0,95 %
RUSTEN      5 814 679  0,79 %
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB      5 228 426  0,71 %
TOTAL SHARES OWNED BY 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS      507 862 362  69,32 %

OTHER SHAREHOLDERS      224 805 174  30,68 %
TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES 31.12.2020      732 667 536  100,00 %

BOARD MEMBER     TITLE                        OWNERSHIP    NO OF SHARES HOLDING

Øivind Horpestad Chairman of 
  the Board of Directors Shares owned by Gimle Invest AS   12 206 513   1,67 %

Terje Nesbakken Board member     0,00 %

Rune Skarveland Board member  Shares owned by Handeland Industri AS 61 325 000   8,37 %

Bente Stangeland Board member Shares owned by AS Fly"sk  23 064 606   3,15 %

Tove Ormevik Board member    20 000   0,00 %

Hans Pe$er Eikeland CEO  Shares owned by Eikeland Holding AS 9 156 356   1,25 %

Nils Ingemund Ho! CFO  Shares owned by Eagle AS  1 750 333   0,24 %

Total shares 31.12.2020 owned by 
board members and  their closely-related parties and executive personnel  95 316 295   13,01 %

Shares owned by executive personnel and board members       
The following table shows shares owned by executive personnel and board members, including shares owned by their 
closely-related persons and companies, as of 31 December 2020.      

No loans nor guarantees have been issued to members of the board. 
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Equity 01.01.2020   2,1   123,3   0,3   (5,1)  120,6 

Result for the year    (461,4)    (461,4)

Business combination   3,2   474,1   3,7    481,1 

Issue of shares   2,0   244,0     246,0 

Adjustment    (5,1)   5,1   - 

Net changes 2020   5,2   251,6   3,7   5,1   265,7 

      

Equity 31.12.2020   7,3  375,0  4,0   -   386,4 

Other 

paid-in 

equity

Retained

earnings

2018

2020

2019

NOTE 10    EQUITY

Equity 01.01.2019   1,3   13,5   -   4,9   19,8 

Result for the year   -   -   -   (10,0)  (10,0)

Business combination   0,8   128,0   -   -   128,8 

Business combination - other e!ects   -   (18,6)  -   -   (18,6)

Issue of shares   0,0   0,4   -   -   0,5 

E!ect share options   -   -   0,3   -   0,3 

Net changes 2019   0,8   109,8   0,3   (10,0)  100,8 

      

Equity 31.12.2019   2,1   123,3   0,3   (5,1)  120,6 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Share
premium

Share
capital

Other 

paid-in 

equity

Retained

earnings

Total 

equity

Total 

equity

2019

(NOKm)

(NOKm)
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There is no instalment plan for repayment of debt  
The internal loans are charged with 3 months NIBOR + 2%.  

 NOTE 11    INTERCOMPANY BALANCES 

RECEIVABLES

LIABILITIES

Long-term receivables   164,9   - 

Short-term receivables   56,2   3,0 

Total   221,2   3,0 

Long-term liabilities   47,0   78,0 

Short-term liabilities   25,8  

Total   72,8   78,0 

(NOKm)

(NOKm)

2019

2019

2020

2020

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of "nancial instruments:
-credit risk
-liquidity risk
-market risk

Credit risk of receivables towards group companies will be depending on performance of the actual operations in the 
subsidiary.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its "nancial obligations as they fall due. The company’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have su%cient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities under both normal and stressed conditions

Exposure to liquidity risk
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of "nancial liabilities at the reporting date, including payment of 
interest and without the e!ect of se$lement arrangements:

 NOTE 12    FINANCIAL MARKET RISK

>>
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 NOTE 15    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

 NOTE 14    CONTINGENT LIABILITIES / LEGAL CLAIMS

 NOTE 13     GUARANTEES

See note 30 in the group accounts.

LEGAL CLAIMS 

Following the bankruptcy in ØPD AS, the landlord of an area where ØPD conducted business has made a claim to Endúr ASA 

to answer for ØPD’s obligations related to the lease, which expires in 2027. Endúr ASA assesses whether there is a guarantee 

liability to which the company is bound. Even if a claim is not accepted, a possible guarantee liability can amount to mnok 

38.5. No provision is accounted for.    

    

Endúr ASA is in a legal dispute. The dispute concerns a guarantee obligation for the tenancy of the bankrupt subsidiary Endúr 

Energy Solutions AS. It is claimed that Endúr ASA is responsible for a guarantee liability of mnok 1.5. Endúr ASA’s main allega-

tion is that the guarantee liability was not transferred in connection with the transaction related to Endur Energy Solutions AS. 

There is process risk associated with the case for Endúr ASA, but the company believes that Endúr ASA has a signi"cantly 

stronger case than the counterparty. No provision is accounted for.   

  

GUARANTEES 

Endúr ASA provides projectguarantees arising in the ordinary course of business. All commercial guarantees are on behalf 

of the subsidiary ØPD AS. As a result of the bankruptcy of ØPD AS in 2021, ref note 15, Endúr ASA will in 2021 incur a loss 

related to this guarantee liability. This is estimated to be about nok 20 million. No provison is recognised as of 31.12.20. 

 

For guarantees related to lease contracts on behalf of subsidiaries, see note 14.   

  

 NOTE 12    FINANCIAL MARKET RISK *CONTINUED+>>

31 DECEMBER 2020

Convertible loans    6,0   6,3   6,3   -   -   - 

Other loans    6,0   7,8   0,3   0,3   0,6   6,6 

Shareholder loan    1,0   1,0   1,0   -   -   - 

Trade and other payables    8,6   248,6   8,6   -   -   - 

Total     21,6   263,7   16,2   0,3   0,6   6,6 

Market risk for the company is related to interest risk.     
  
Interest rate risk 
The company does not normally hedge against changes in the interest rate.”    
     
 

NOTE
Carrying 
amount Total

6 months
 or less

Contractual cash flows

(NOKm) 6#12 mth.
1 - 2 

years
2 - 5

years



75

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Endúr ASA  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

In this annual report the Group presents several Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), which are described 
below:   
   
 
EBITDA    
EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) is a commonly used performance measure. 
EBITDA provides an expression of pro"tability from operations. Endúr believes that this performance measure provides 
useful information about the Group’s ability to service debt and "nance investments. In addition, the performance 
measure is useful for comparing pro"tability with other companies. Endúr presents EBITDA in the key "gures and in note 
5 Operating Segments.    
    
   
EBIT   
EBIT (Earnings before interest and taxes) ) is a commonly used performance measure. EBIT provides an expression of 
pro"tability from operations, but unlike EBITDA this performance measure also includes depreciations and amortization 
for the period. Endúr presents EBIT in brackets behind operating pro"t in consolidated income statement, and in note 5 
Operating Segments.    
    
   
EQUITY SHARE   
Equity share is calculated as Book value of Equity/ Total Assets. Endúr presents Equity share in the key "gures.  
    
   
NET WORKING CAPITAL   
Net Working capital is calculated as Current Assets minus Current Liabilities. Net Working Capital is a measure of the 
group’s operating liquidity. Endúr presents Net Working Capital in the key "gures.   
   
    
NET INTEREST BEARING DEBT   
Net Interest-Bearing Debt is calculated as interest-bearing loans minus cash and cash equivalents. Endúr presents Net 
Interest-Bearing Debt in the key "gures.    
  

Convertible loans    6,0   6,3   6,3   -   -   - 

Other loans    6,0   7,8   0,3   0,3   0,6   6,6 

Shareholder loan    1,0   1,0   1,0   -   -   - 

Trade and other payables    8,6   248,6   8,6   -   -   - 

Total     21,6   263,7   16,2   0,3   0,6   6,6 

Market risk for the company is related to interest risk.     
  
Interest rate risk 
The company does not normally hedge against changes in the interest rate.”    
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 2020

Responsibility Statement Endúr ASA 2020

We con"rm, to the best of our knowledge, that the "nancial statements for the period from 1 of January to 31 of
December 2019 has been prepared in accordance with IFRS, and gives a true and fair view of the Group’s assets,
liabilities, "nancial position and the "nancial result as a whole.

We also con"rm, to the best of our knowledge that the Board of Director’s Report gives a correct description of the
result and position of the company, together with a description of the most important risks and uncertainties the
company is facing.

Bergen 29 april 2021

The Board of Directors and CEO of Endúr ASA

Øivind Omar Horpestad
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)

-sign

Bjørn Finnøy
-sign

Hedvig Bugge Reiersen
-sign

Terje Nesbakke
-sign

Tove Ormevik
-sign

Kristoffer Nesse Hope
-sign

Jorunn Helvik Ingebrigtsen
-sign

Hans Olav Storkås
CEO

-sign
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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the General Meeting in Endúr ASA 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Endúr ASA. 

The financial statements comprise: 
! The financial statements of the parent 

company, which comprise the balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2020, income 
statement and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and 

! The financial statements of the group, 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 
31 December 2020, the income 
statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion: 
! The financial statements are prepared 

in accordance with the law and 
regulations. 

! The accompanying financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Endúr ASA as at 31 
December 2020, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the 
Norwegian Accounting Act and 
accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway. 

! The accompanying financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the group Endúr 
ASA as at 31 December 2020, and its 
financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
EU. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
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were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed 
in the audit 

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL  

The carrying amount of goodwill resulting 
from the Group’s acquisitions of subsidiaries, 
constitutes a significant part of the total assets 
in the Group’s consolidated statement of 
financial position.  

In 2020, the Group has recognized an 
impairment loss of NOK 461.3 million. As of 31 
December 2020, goodwill amounts to NOK 
461,3 million, representing 38,8 % of total 
assets. 

Management performs an annual goodwill 
impairment test to assess whether an 
impairment loss has incurred. The 
determination of recoverable amount requires 
application of significant judgment by 
management, in particular with respect to 
cash flow forecasts and the applied discount 
rates. 

Due to the materiality, complexity and 
estimation uncertainty concerning goodwill, 
we consider impairment of goodwill a key 
audit matter to the audit of the Group. 

We refer to notes 11 and 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements for 
disclosed information about goodwill and 
impairment test. 
 

Our audit procedures included an 
assessment of the key assumptions applied 
in the valuation model, including revenue 
growth, EBITDA margin, terminal growth 
rate and discount rate. 

We involved our internal valuation 
specialists to assist us with our assessment 
of the discount rates, expected inflation 
rates and the appropriateness of the model 
used. 

In addition, we performed the following 
audit procedures: 

! We evaluated the reliability of 
estimates performed by 
management by comparing 
forecasts made in prior years to 
actual outcomes  

! We verified key inputs in the 
calculations to management’s 
forecasts 

! We assessed management’s 
sensitivity analysis regarding the 
impact on recoverable amount 
reasonable changes in assumptions 
such as revenue growth, EBITDA, 
and discount rate would have   

! we tested the mathematical 
accuracy of the valuation model 

 

Furthermore, we have evaluated the 
adequacy of the disclosures provided in 
the notes covering impairment. 
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VALUATION OF INVESTMENT IN 
SUBSIDIARIES 

 

The company has significant investments in 
subsidiaries that are measured at cost.   
Investments in subsidiaries are tested for 
impairment if indications of impairment are 
present. An impairment loss is recognized if 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount. 
In 2020 the company has recognized an 
impairment loss of NOK 355,4 million. The 
carrying amount at 31.12.2020 was NOK 236,2 
million.  
 
Due to the materiality, and the complexity of 
the valuation of the assets, lead us to classify 
the valuation of investments in subsidiaries as 
a key audit matter. 
 

Our audit procedures included a detailed 
review, testing, and assessment of 
management's impairment tests, including 
the calculation of recoverable amounts.  

 

We have also assessed management's 
assumptions underlying the valuation and 
taken into consideration the historical 
accuracy in determining the estimates.  

 

Internal specialists have assisted us in this 
process. We have also considered the 
assumptions described in note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  

On 16 October 2020, Endúr ASA acquired 
100% of the share in Oceano AS through a 
merger. 215,021,018 new shares in Endúr ASA 
were issued as consideration shares.  

 

On 17 December 20020, Endúr ASA acquired 
100% of the shares in BMO Entreprenør AS. 
The consideration was settled with cash and 
issue of 107,470,870 new shares in Endúr ASA.  

 
Both transactions were accounted for using 
the acquisition method, which means that 
acquired identifiable assets, rights and 
liabilities are recognized at fair value at the 
time of the transaction. Consideration in 
excess of net identifiable assets is recognized 
as goodwill. 

 

The group has prepared Purchase Price 
Allocation for the identification and valuation 
of assets and liabilities assumed. The purchase 

We have reviewed the Purchase Price 
Allocations prepared in connection with 
the accounting for the acquisitions of 
Oceano AS and BMO Entreprenør AS.  

Our audit procedures included an 
assessment of identified assets and 
liabilities as well as the assumptions 
applied in the valuation model, including 
revenue growth, EBITDA margin and 
discount rate.  

We involved our internal valuation 
specialists to assist us with our assessment 
of the discount rates, expected inflation 
rates, and the appropriateness of the 
methodology and valuation model applied. 

In addition, we performed the following 
audit procedures: 

! We compared Sale and Purchase 
Agreement (SPA) and Purchase 
Price Allocation (PPA) with respect 
to consideration amounts  

! We reviewed the opening balances 
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price allocation requires a significant degree 
of exercise of judgment from management, in 
relation to the identification and valuation of 
assets and liabilities. 

 

Due to the materiality, complexity, and 
estimation uncertainty, we consider the 
accounting for business combinations a key 
audit matter to the audit of the company and 
the Group. 

We refer to note 3 Business combinations and 
note 2 Significant accounting policies to the 
consolidated financial statements where 
management describes the accounting 
treatment of the business combination 
between Endúr ASA, Oceano AS and BMO 
Entreprenør AS.  

and controlled the related fair 
value adjustments  

! We tested the mathematical 
accuracy of the calculations in the 
valuation model used to value 
identified assets 

Furthermore, we have evaluated the 
adequacy of the disclosures provided in the 
notes covering business combinations. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Board of Directors’ report and other information in the Annual Report, but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial 
Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for the parent company in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation of the group in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements reference is made to: 
https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statement on Corporate 
Governance concerning the financial statements and the going concern assumption is 
consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures 
we have considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information», it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to 
produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of the Company’s and 
the Group's accounting information in accordance with the law and bookkeeping standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 
 

Oslo, 29 April 2021 
BDO AS 
 
 
 
Yngve Gjethammer  
State Authorised Public Accountant 
 
Note: Translation from Norwegian prepared for information purposes only. 

BDO AS, a Norwegian liability company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international 
BDO network of independent member firms. The Register of Business Enterprises: NO 993 606 650 VAT. 
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Postal adress: Damsgårdsveien 119, 5160 Laksevåg, Norway
Visiting adress / Group Head Quarter: Damsgårdsveien 229, Laksevåg
T: +47 55 54 24 00 | E: post@endur.no | W: endur.no

Further contact info is available on the company’s home page.


